

9/1/2016

Page 1

DETROIT BOARD OF POLICE COMMISSIONERS

WEEKLY MEETING

THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 1, 2016 3:00 PM

1301 THIRD STREET

DETROIT PUBLIC SAFETY HEADQUARTERS

DETROIT, MICHIGAN 48226

1 COMMISSIONERS:
2
3 GREGORY HICKS, Secretary
4 WILLIE BELL, Chairperson (Dist.4)
5 DERRICK SANDERS, Commissioner Appointed
6 ELIZABETH BROOKS, Commissioner Appointed
7 EVA GARZA DEWAELESCHE, Appointed
8 BISHOP EDGAR VANN, Commissioner (Dist. 2)
9 REGINALD CRAWFORD, Commissioner (Dist. 3)
10 WILLIE E. BURTON, Commissioner (Dist. 5)
11 LISA CARTER, Commissioner (Dist. 6)

12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

REPRESENTING THE CHIEF OF POLICE'S OFFICE:

ASSISTANT CHIEF STEVEN DOLUNT

1 Detroit, Michigan
2 Thursday, September 1, 2016
3 About 2:58 p.m.

4 COMMISSIONER BELL: Good afternoon and
5 welcome to the weekly meeting of the Board of
6 Police Commissioners. I am your Chair, Willie
7 Bell, and we're going to call the meeting to
8 order.

9 I'm going to ask our very own pastor in
10 residence Commissioner Edgar Vann to invocation,
11 please.

12 (INVOCATION WAS GIVEN).

13 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you,
14 Commissioner Vann. I'm going to ask the
15 Commissioners to introduce themselves starting to
16 my far right with Commissioner Eva Dewaelsche.

17 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHE: Commissioner
18 Eva Garza Dewaelsche, appointed.

19 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: Commissioner
20 Derrick Sanders, appointed.

21 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: Commissioner
22 Elizabeth Brooks, appointed.

23 COMMISSIONER BELL: And once again I'm
24 Commissioner Willie Bell.

25 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Commissioner

1 Reggie Crawford, 3rd District.

2 COMMISSIONER VANN: Commissioner Edgar
3 Vann, District 2.

4 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you,
5 Commissioners. Mr. Secretary, do we have a
6 quorum?

7 MR. HICKS: Mr. Chair, yes, you have a
8 quorum.

9 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you, and at
10 this time I'm going to introduce the young man
11 who really needs no introduction, but he's
12 Assistant Chief with the Detroit Police
13 Department, Steven Dolunt, sitting in for Chief
14 Craig.

15 ASST. CHIEF DOLUNT: Good afternoon.
16 Chief's on vacation this week and you got me.

17 COMMISSIONER BELL: Oh, the Chief's
18 taking a vacation?

19 ASST. CHIEF DOLUNT: It's not really a
20 vacation, he's got some things going on, but you
21 still got me, so --

22 COMMISSIONER BELL: I've never heard him
23 say about vacations.

24 ASST. CHIEF DOLUNT: Time off.

25 COMMISSIONER BELL: I'm happy for him,

1 a little R&R, that's a good thing, thank you,
2 thank you for sitting in, sir, it's always good
3 to see you.

4 And our Secretary to the Board,
5 Mr. Gregory Hicks, would you introduce the staff
6 of the Board of Police Commissioners, please.

7 MR. HICKS: Thank you, Mr. Chair, first
8 of all, let me introduce Gail Oxendine who is the
9 director of Police Personnel. Gail is making her
10 way to the front row there.

11 Robert Brown who is the administrative
12 assistant. We also have Alan Quinn and Media
13 Services who are here and the reporter for today
14 is Dale Rose.

15 I want to go back and mention that the
16 Chief Investigator for the Board is also here and
17 I come to her last because she typically also
18 introduces some of her staff, so Chief.

19 (OCI STAFF MEMBER WAS INTRODUCED).

20 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you, thank you
21 for your attendance, and the senior investigator,
22 it's always good to see you at one of these
23 meetings.

24 We're going to pause, I'm going to ask
25 the AC, Assistant Chief, to introduce any

1 personnel from DPD please at this time.

2 ASST. CHIEF DOLUNT: Okay, Sgt.
3 Phillips and Sgt. Engel. Anyone else back there?
4 Capt. Chambers -- oh, Gail is here, sorry, Gail.
5 Officer Marino is back. Sgt. Potts, and I think
6 that's it from DPD.

7 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you for DPD
8 personnel in attendance this afternoon. And my
9 understanding that we have one of the most
10 prominent universities in the city of Detroit
11 present and that would be Wayne State. Would you
12 please stand for Wayne State and introduce
13 yourself. Let's come to the mic, Wayne State, if
14 you don't mind.

15 MR. ZALMAN: I'm pleased to be here.
16 The dean of the College of Liberal Arts and the
17 dean of the Graduate School has stepped out
18 probably doing important business.

19 My name is Marvin Zalman. I first came
20 to Detroit in 1980 as Chair of the new Criminal
21 Justice Department at that time and over the
22 years we've had relationships with the police
23 department.

24 I'm very pleased to see this
25 development to enhance the education of people in

1 the department and also to bring the experience
2 of the department into the criminal justice
3 program, so thank you for being here and I will
4 now defer to my higher ranking people.

5 DEAN MATHUR: Good afternoon and thank
6 you for this opportunity for increasing the
7 partnership of Wayne State University and the
8 Detroit Police Department. We're very excited
9 with the first cohort of students we've had in
10 the scholarship program. We're looking forward
11 to the next cohort and how we can work together
12 to further broaden the participation, so we're
13 really excited about this.

14 I'm the dean of the Graduate School and
15 the associate provost for training progress, so
16 we will be talking more in the future about how
17 to broaden our participation.

18 I'm going to turn it over to Dean
19 Raskin of the College of Liberal Arts and
20 Sciences.

21 COMMISSIONER BELL: Could we have your
22 name for the record, please?

23 DEAN MATHUR: Sure, it's Ambika Mathur.

24 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you.

25 DEAN RASKIN: Thank you very much, Dean

1 Mathur. So when we started this program two
2 years ago we started with two students and
3 they're just about to graduate now and we were so
4 pleased that we said we would like to have a new
5 cohort of students every year, and so -- so
6 that's what we plan to do.

7 We will have two students begin
8 basically now and we will have two more who will
9 begin next year, and so that we'll have a total
10 of four for the next three years and then -- and
11 this is a four-year extension of the original
12 agreement in 2014, so we are extremely pleased to
13 be here to do that today.

14 Thank you very much.

15 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you and we
16 appreciate you coming out for the program and the
17 Board in terms of -- we're going to hear shortly
18 from the two distinguished scholars here with DPD
19 and Wayne State, so thank you on behalf of the
20 Board of Police Commissioners.

21 DEAN RASKIN: Thank you very much.

22 ASST. CHIEF DOLUNT: Thank you.

23 COMMISSIONER BELL: And I just want to
24 thank all of you for your attendance, others I
25 see, some of our regular people who are really

1 supportive and we thank you for your attendance
2 this evening.

3 And I want to recognize Dr. Divers from
4 pro tem George Cushingberry's office, as always
5 we are always glad to be in contact with the
6 Council, so you represent them real well.

7 And AC Dolunt, I see a couple more
8 personnel from DPD, the Deputy Chief, I'll let
9 you -- to your far right.

10 ASST. CHIEF DOLUNT: Who's here? Oh,
11 I'm sorry, Celia Washington my right-hand person,
12 she's here.

13 COMMISSIONER BELL: Is that DC
14 Washington?

15 ASST. CHIEF DOLUNT: DC Washington,
16 Celia.

17 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, good, and at
18 this time we would entertain a motion to approve
19 the agenda for this afternoon's meeting.

20 COMMISSIONER VANN: So moved,
21 Mr. Chair.

22 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: Second.

23 COMMISSIONER BELL: It's been property
24 moved and seconded. Discussion? Those in favor
25 aye?

1 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

2 COMMISSIONER BELL: Those opposed?
3 Motion carries. The next item would be the
4 approval of minutes from Thursday, August 25,
5 2016.

6 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: So moved.

7 COMMISSIONER VANN: Supported.

8 COMMISSIONER BELL: Been properly moved
9 and supported. Discussion? Those in favor aye?

10 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

11 COMMISSIONER BELL: Those opposed?
12 Motion carries.

13 The next item would be Chair report
14 and you should have a copy before you, but
15 basically first item would be the meeting on
16 September 29, 2016. The majority of our board is
17 expected to be away from the city on September
18 29, 2016 at the NACOLE conference September 25
19 through September 29.

20 The Board will not be able to conduct
21 business for a lack of quorum. To avoid
22 inconvenience to the public to travel to a
23 meeting that would not occur and to avoid expense
24 of appearing for the meeting including the setup
25 required by Media Services, payment of our

1 service to our outside transcription contractor
2 and expense connected with other department
3 resources it is wise to cancel the September 29
4 meeting.

5 The Charter mandates approximately 49
6 meetings per year. By cancelling September 29
7 meeting we will likely have 48 meetings over the
8 course of the calendar year. The 48 meetings are
9 in keeping with the spirit of the Charter and the
10 Open Meetings Act wherein citizen notification of
11 public meetings and citizen assets are critical
12 elements of an open democracy process.

13 The Chair would entertain a motion for
14 cancellation of the September 29 meeting.

15 COMMISSIONER VANN: So moved,
16 Mr. Chair.

17 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Second.

18 COMMISSIONER BELL: It's been properly
19 moved and seconded. Discussion?

20 (COMMISSIONER CARTER ARRIVES).

21 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Mr, Chair, yes,
22 sir, as long as this -- and I believe it was a
23 couple of meetings ago -- there will be some
24 research done on this -- and as long as this is
25 not in violation of the Charter I'll support it

1 in any form or fashion. And also too, can I get
2 a copy of that statement?

3 COMMISSIONER BELL: Oh, yes, sir, I
4 definitely will give you a copy, make sure the
5 entire Board gets a copy. So any other comments
6 or discussion on this particular item?

7 And our immediate past Chair Lisa
8 Carter is joining us at this time, and,
9 Commissioner Carter, we are discussing
10 cancellation of the September 29 meeting and I'll
11 make sure you get a copy, but the Chair is
12 proposing and we did a little research behind it
13 that in the spirit of the Charter I think we're
14 meeting the criteria.

15 So if you are ready to vote, then those
16 in favor aye?

17 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

18 COMMISSIONER BELL: Those opposed?
19 Motion carries; thank you.

20 The next item I am announcing the
21 foundation of a -- formation of a new ad hoc
22 committee on towing.

23 Towing is a big issue by a Charter
24 mandate and we are moving towards -- the
25 committee is designed to look at our towing rules

1 and close a few gaps in our rules.

2 I ask members Commissioner Vann,
3 Commissioner Brooks and Commissioner Carter to
4 join me on this ad hoc committee as we weigh in
5 on the issues, so it's an ad hoc committee.

6 I'm just informing the Board of this
7 process by charter -- I mean by bylaws so we can
8 have an ad hoc committee and this is the
9 committee and you can have any input that you
10 have a desire at this time in terms of contacting
11 the committee members and as we go forward you
12 will hear more about the process of how we're
13 going to engage, but it's something that we been
14 having discussion on.

15 We went through the process a couple of
16 months ago and I think it's time that we can
17 weigh in, so if any committee members want to
18 speak to this issue or Board member want to speak
19 at this time feel free to.

20 If not, thank you, thank you for the
21 committeepersons that agreed to serve on it.

22 The next item please note in your
23 package a press release prepared by staff to
24 promote the September 8, 2016 community forum on
25 less than lethal weapons.

1 We have received a lot of support and
2 distribution information on this forum. Anyone
3 who would like to help promote the forum should
4 see Robert Brown before the end of the meeting
5 and you see on the screen that this is something
6 that we really want to engage.

7 I will be sharing this information with
8 the 9th Precinct community meeting tonight at 7
9 o'clock. I would hope that all other
10 Commissioners in our meeting that might take
11 place prior to and we are doing a media blast,
12 we're doing a Facebook blast, we're doing an
13 e-mail blast, we're doing a Twitter blast and the
14 bottom line is you the people can share. We have
15 flyers available.

16 So this is a very very important item
17 that we want to get before the community to get
18 the feedback. We have an outstanding panel
19 that's going to be engaging. My former chief of
20 police Ike McKinnon is going to be part of it. I
21 know he's very well thought off in terms of
22 community and the Deputy Mayor and it's an
23 outstanding panel.

24 We have a medical doctor coming in to
25 weigh on in it from DMC St. John's, so -- as we

1 go forward, so start the dialog, start the
2 research and come with your questions and
3 concerns and -- but you don't have to wait, you
4 can also e-mail us your questions that you might
5 have starting now with the staff or the
6 Commissioners, issues that you might want to
7 flush out on that particular night.

8 So it's a fantastic facility if you
9 have never been there before, the Boy Scouts
10 facility is a great location and it's a great
11 facility, so we're looking forward to your
12 attendance.

13 COMMISSIONER VANN: Mr. Chair, I'd like
14 to know where I can get a supply of these flyers.
15 I'd like to distribute them to my congregation
16 and community and also formatted for social
17 media. If you could send that to me, I have a
18 lot of followers in my social media networks and
19 so it would be really good if I could just have
20 it to put it out.

21 Unfortunately I'm expected to be out of
22 town next week and won't be here, but I want to
23 do what I can to promote this.

24 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes. Mr. Brown is
25 nodding his head and Mr. Hicks is nodding his

1 head, so we can accommodate you and we want to at
2 least have 100 individuals from your
3 congregation, your community, to represent you.

4 COMMISSIONER VANN: All you have to do
5 is ask.

6 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay, thank you,
7 that's on a really positive note. The fourth
8 item I want to bring to your attention, the
9 Commission is already aware, Attorney Linda
10 Bernard has separated from employment with the
11 Board of Police Commissioners.

12 We will be starting evaluation and
13 search for legal representation as soon as
14 possible, so that process is in the works and we
15 have communicated to all the Commissioners in
16 reference to that particular item.

17 So as we move on to HR report -- I'm
18 sorry, any questions or concerns in reference to
19 my report? Thank you.

20 Ms. Gail Oxendine.

21 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Good afternoon,
22 Commissioners, Gail Oxendine, Director of Police
23 Personnel for the record.

24 You should have your binder in front of
25 you. This is the report for August of 2016. We

1 currently have filled sworn positions 2,308,
2 civilians 500 for a total of 2,808.

3 We have a total of 317 vacancies, 254
4 sworn and 63 civilian. The next piece of
5 information is with respect to the sworn
6 recruiting. We have 153 that are currently in
7 process and for the two-month period fiscal year
8 beginning 7-1-2016 to August 31, 2016 we have 802
9 sworn applicants that have applied.

10 With respect to the MCOLES testing, you
11 have your numbers listed here for written and
12 physical agility. We have some dropoff with the
13 written because we have some payment issues that
14 needed to be addressed, but those issues have
15 been addressed and we're back in the full swing
16 with our written examination for MCOLES.

17 We're also offering that examination on
18 Wednesday evenings as well beginning this week we
19 started that process.

20 In terms of new hires for the month of
21 August, 2016 we hired 22 civilians and 51 sworn
22 officers. Our last class of officers started
23 just this past Monday.

24 Going to Page 2, with respect to
25 residency information you'll see the number of

1 residents that we have, 629 sworn residents, 322
2 civilian residents. Of those that we hired
3 during the month of August, 15 of the new hired
4 civilians are Detroit residents and 12 of the
5 sworn new hires are Detroit residents.

6 We are currently in the process of
7 getting ready for our fall student internship
8 program. That program will commence on September
9 26. Fall is usually a time when we have a lower
10 number of participants, so we'll keep you abreast
11 as we move forward with that program.

12 Attrition, 18 sworn, five civilians,
13 one police assistant for a total of 24.
14 Attrition dropped off a little bit this month;
15 that's a good thing.

16 You have your leave of absence numbers
17 for sworn and civilian categories and the last
18 thing I'd like to report is an update for special
19 projects.

20 Just this past week we conducted what
21 is called a state survey or state interviews
22 where we elected to go with the survey instead of
23 the interview process of DPD employees to get
24 information on why employees stay with DPD, and
25 also what would convince them to leave.

1 This is a fairly common retention
2 strategy and we're trying to focus more on
3 retention and not just recruitment, so we just
4 ended that survey and we're currently compiling
5 the information and we'll report that out to you
6 next month. We had over 300 employees
7 participate in the survey.

8 We're also working with pension. There
9 seems to be some -- I don't think everyone is on
10 the same page with respect to disability
11 retirement, so we've had some meetings with
12 Pension and LR to kind of shore up that process
13 and that should help us with our restricted duty
14 and disability -- long-term disability folk
15 getting those retirement opportunities.

16 And with that, that concludes my report
17 and I'll take any questions that you may have.

18 COMMISSIONER BELL: Commissioners?

19 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHÉ: Mr. Chair, if
20 I may, with regard to the state survey, Director,
21 can you explain the population of police
22 officers? Are you categorizing them say by
23 number of years on the job?

24 I mean I imagine you would get a
25 certain answer from officers who are ready to

1 retire and then some who are new to the job and
2 are you kind of categorizing them?

3 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: We're not
4 categorizing by years of service, we are
5 categorizing by bargaining unit to kind of get a
6 feel. We have real good information with respect
7 to attrition trends in our department and we kind
8 of know where the sweet spot is where people kind
9 of leave and that's when they have about 15 -- 10
10 to 15 years seems to be a very high number of
11 people leave and we have some rationale for why
12 that occurs.

13 At 10 years you are vested and so you
14 have something to look forward to in terms of
15 retirement from the department. Another spot is
16 that that one year, two year and then at the 20
17 years for DPOA members because they can take an
18 early retirement at 20 years.

19 So we're not doing -- we wanted to keep
20 the survey short, not too elaborate, because
21 people have a tendency to not complete the survey
22 if it's too complicated.

23 But we did ask questions about what are
24 some of the positive things, positive aspects
25 about their employment here, what are some of the

1 things that they -- that would encourage them to
2 leave if you would, what are some things that we
3 could do to help with work/life balance and so
4 forth.

5 So we're going to get some information,
6 probably not as complex as -- comprehensive I
7 should say as we would have liked to have
8 received, but we wanted to get some quick
9 information.

10 We were happy to see over 300 people
11 participate and we asked that all employees
12 participate, which is both sworn and civilian so
13 we're able to determine which are sworn and which
14 are not by bargaining unit.

15 So once that information is compiled,
16 then we'll be happy to share that with you and
17 also we'll be giving some feedback to the
18 department. When I mean the department I mean
19 we'll be publishing information so that employees
20 can kind of see what they said.

21 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Thank you.

22 COMMISSIONER VANN: Mr. Chair, I just
23 -- Director, great report as usual. One of the
24 things that sticks out to me is in the category
25 of leave of absence and restricted duty.

1 I can remember historically in the
2 Detroit Police Department, especially in my first
3 stint as a Commissioner, these numbers were
4 dramatically higher than that and I want to
5 commend you on the fact that these numbers are in
6 what I would think to be a much more reasonable
7 level.

8 What do you attribute that to, certain
9 strategies that you've been working on to try to
10 shore that up? This is very commendable.

11 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Thank you for that,
12 sir. I think part of it is we have less people,
13 the population is smaller overall, so then this
14 number would just by nature be smaller.

15 We have been working to really lessen
16 the restricted duty number. One of the things I
17 think that we've implemented to help with that is
18 that we have really kind of gone by the law which
19 is the Americans with Disabilities Act by
20 engaging employees in the interactive process.
21 We also have -- I like to think that we have the
22 right person that's the leader of Police Medical.

23 Ms. Bridget Lamar is a civilian
24 employee, you met her a few weeks ago. She has
25 -- you know, she's master degreed in healthcare

1 administration, she has experience in running
2 clinics and working with medical-related issues.

3 She's established a very fine
4 relationship with the risk management
5 administrator for the City of Detroit, so the
6 communication lines are open. So I think that
7 her leadership had been really critical. She's
8 looking at those people that come in for
9 assistance.

10 She's looking at them with, I would
11 say, a more educated eye because this is her area
12 of expertise as well as she has a lot of
13 experience with respect to Human Resources. So
14 we're getting two for one if you will in terms of
15 her background.

16 COMMISSIONER VANN: So would you think
17 that -- not that you have assessed it in this
18 manner, but just as a guess what would be the
19 percentage of those who are out that it's
20 strictly medical and how many would be, let's
21 say, stress related?

22 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: I wouldn't know
23 that offhand so I wouldn't venture to guess.

24 COMMISSIONER VANN: That would just be
25 interesting to kind of know because the levels of

1 stress have increased for police officers and
2 I've always been concerned about police officers
3 and their emotional health as well.

4 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Yes. I think one
5 of the programs that really will kick off that
6 was -- the Chief was extremely supportive of was
7 the Peer Support Program and that program is
8 police officers, whatever rank, have experienced
9 some critical incidents and who best for those
10 that have experienced more recent ones to talk to
11 than their peers who have also gone through the
12 same thing.

13 So I think that that has had a very
14 positive effect in terms of members being able to
15 get assistance and grow back to wellness if you
16 will, come to wellness again just by having those
17 people to talk with.

18 COMMISSIONER BELL: Commissioners?

19 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Yes, sir,
20 through the Chair. Yes, ma'am, Director, thank
21 you for the report. And in that survey I'm sure
22 there was a category, "What can we do to
23 encourage you to stay".

24 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Absolutely.

25 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: And also too in

1 terms of MCOLES testing, are we charging the
2 applicant -- there's still no charge to the
3 applicant?

4 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: There's no charge
5 to the applicant.

6 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Thank you,
7 ma'am.

8 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Through the
9 Chair, that's for the written.

10 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: That's for the
11 written and the agility there is no charge.

12 COMMISSIONER CARTER: And agility?

13 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Yes, ma'am, that's
14 correct, no charge.

15 COMMISSIONER CARTER: So with that do
16 you know how many actually -- are these people
17 who have actually applied to the department?

18 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Yes.

19 COMMISSIONER CARTER: And do you know
20 if all of them -- what I'm getting at is do all
21 of them apply to stay with the department or do
22 others -- because that's a significant cost.

23 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: It is a cost and we
24 do not release the scores -- I should say the
25 agility scores. They have to stay with us if you

1 get my meaning.

2 Now, in terms of what happens after
3 they get hired, you know, at that point or if
4 they fail our process or are disqualified along
5 the way, then, you know, they take their scores
6 with them, but it is our intent to make sure that
7 those candidates -- it's a way to attract more
8 people too, so we're offering a free testing, a
9 portion of your expenses to become a Detroit
10 police officer that you don't have to pay for at
11 least that portion of the up-front costs.

12 COMMISSIONER CARTER: It's wonderful, I
13 mean huge. So I have another question as to the
14 failed physical agility. Is there anything in
15 place -- do you work with the individuals to help
16 them through the physical agility once they fail?

17 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Yes, so we have
18 officers that are assigned to Training that are
19 assisting the Recruiting Unit with facilitating
20 the physical agility examination and some of
21 those officers that are at Training, they do
22 provide regimens to the applicants and talk with
23 them about exercise and eating habits and that
24 and we always give them a second chance.

25 So we have them go away for maybe a

1 month or whatever the appropriate time limit may
2 be and then we give them another shot.

3 COMMISSIONER CARTER: That's wonderful
4 because I actually got a second shot. I failed
5 the push-ups the first time I took the physical
6 agility test, so that's wonderful that you're
7 working with people to get them through.

8 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Yes, we're doing
9 everything we can.

10 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: What year was
11 that?

12 COMMISSIONER CARTER: It wasn't called
13 MCOLES, so it was a while ago.

14 COMMISSIONER BELL: Commissioner
15 Crawford, watch yourself.

16 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Because I'm only
17 25.

18 COMMISSIONER BELL: There you go. Any
19 other questions or concerns? Director Gail,
20 thank you for an outstanding report.

21 DIRECTOR OXENDINE: Thank you, sir.

22 COMMISSIONER BELL: Next we'll hear
23 from our Chief Investigator Pamela Davis-Drake,
24 OCI report update.

25 CHIEF INV. DAVIS-DRAKE: Good

1 afternoon. For the record, Pamela Davis-Drake,
2 Chief Investigator. As of today we have 183 open
3 cases, we have 13 cases that have been submitted
4 to either myself or supervisors for closing and
5 we have no cases over 90 days.

6 The statistics for July, 2016 are as
7 follows: The number of complaints that we
8 actually had come through the OCI for the month
9 of July was 99 which represents a 10 percent
10 decrease from the number this time last year.

11 At the end of July we had 216 open
12 investigations, 658 cases were filled and 615
13 cases were closed. 99 cases were filed in July,
14 45 percent involved unknown officers.

15 Of the alleged known units involved in
16 leading complaints they are as follows: The 12th
17 Precinct was at 7 percent, the 6 and 8 at 6
18 percent and the 3rd and 10th at 5 percent.

19 The 99 cases involved 191 allegations
20 where the leading areas of concern were as
21 follows: Procedure was at 30 percent, demeanor
22 was at 21 percent, service at 17 percent and
23 harassment at 8 percent.

24 93 cases were closed in the month of
25 July and they involved the following findings:

1 Not sustained 34 percent, exonerated 18 percent,
2 unfounded at 13 percent and sustained at 10
3 percent.

4 The leading areas of concern of those
5 93 cases that were closed are as follows:
6 Procedure was at 40 percent, demeanor at 26
7 percent, service at 10 percent and property was
8 at 7 percent.

9 And that concludes my monthly report.
10 Are there any questions, Commissioners?

11 COMMISSIONER BELL: Commissioners?

12 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Yes, sir,
13 through the Chair. Yes, thanks for the report,
14 Chief Drake. I just have a concern, 45 percent
15 unknown officers? 45 percent, that's almost half
16 of the complaints.

17 CHIEF INV. DAVIS-DRAKE: That's true,
18 and that number fluctuates. It is a concern to
19 me as well. We've addressed it I think before on
20 the record on several occasions and I know there
21 were some initiatives that we were putting out
22 when we go out and talk to complainants.

23 When we go out and talk to the
24 community we always tell them read the badge
25 numbers, make sure you ask the information

1 because if you don't, it's not much we can do
2 about it because the police officers have been --
3 they have their names and information right on
4 their lapels, so --

5 (COMMISSIONER BURTON ARRIVES).

6 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Yes, ma'am.
7 Well, I agree that the onus is on us as
8 Commissioners and everyone to educate the public
9 as to how to obtain the information, so if there
10 is a complaint they want to file against a police
11 officer, if possible they can -- and I'll do what
12 I can do to educate the community too, as to
13 getting a scout car number or whatever is
14 necessary so if they happen to file a complaint,
15 at least we'll have something other than a
16 percentage of 45 percent of unknown officers.

17 CHIEF INV. DAVIS-DRAKE: And, again,
18 that number fluctuates, but it usually is right
19 around 40 percent, you're right.

20 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Yes, ma'am.
21 Thank you very much.

22 COMMISSIONER BELL: Any other comments?
23 Thank you, Chief Investigator Drake. As always,
24 thorough in reporting out, appreciate it.

25 CHIEF INV. DAVIS-DRAKE: Thank you,

1 sir.

2 COMMISSIONER BELL: Let the record
3 reflect that Commissioner Willie E. Burton has
4 joined us about two minutes ago and also I want
5 to acknowledge AC James White is sitting on the
6 side and Comm. Bettison and Comm. Simms. Thank
7 you for your attendance.

8 The next item that we -- oh, that's it.
9 AC Dolunt on behalf of Chief Craig.

10 ASST. CHIEF DOLUNT: Good afternoon. A
11 lighter side and not so lighter side, I'll go
12 lighter side first.

13 Sunday DPD played the DFD in softball,
14 best two out of three, only went two games.
15 Commissioner Sanders was here and he knows why it
16 only went two games. because we kicked their
17 butt.

18 No, actually we did, we won, but we got
19 10 runs in the sixth inning and came back because
20 the DFD team was very good actually and we won,
21 so that's good.

22 However, the rubber match will be today
23 at 5:30 at American Coney Island because it's
24 Detroit Fire against Detroit Police to see how
25 many coneys you can eat in five minutes. Yeah, I

1 know, I did it last year.

2 So we're hoping to get some real eaters
3 this year to do it, but if you're not doing
4 anything at 5:30 -- and they also have a
5 celebrity thing at 6, that's the heavy hitters
6 come out and I think they get 10 minutes to eat
7 as many coneys as they want.

8 So we're doing that if you want to stop
9 by and watch someone eat a lot of coneys.

10 Busy weekend. We have the Lions
11 tonight, we have the jazz festival this weekend,
12 Labor Day parade. We have Donald Trump and Bill
13 Clinton in town, so our resources are kind of
14 stretched this weekend, but we will try to count
15 on everyone and do what we have to do.

16 Our crime right now, homicides are up 5
17 percent. However, our non-fatal shootings are
18 down 14 percent, so overall our shootings are
19 down by over 100 from last year which is a
20 testament to the hard work of the officers out
21 there.

22 Our robberies are down 14 percent and
23 our carjackings are down 33 percent. Still, even
24 one is too many, but we're slowly making
25 progress.

1 Had some threats made against our
2 officers this week, one in particular that's been
3 addressed. We would ask that the citizens please
4 support us. We're doing the best we can. We're
5 not perfect, but we're trying. I understand
6 people don't like it then they get arrested, but
7 don't make threats to kill a pig. I find that
8 repulsive.

9 This morning down in the 4th Precinct
10 we had a tragic homicide at a coney island over
11 on Schaefer. In my opinion, I don't think the
12 individual who -- and I could be wrong -- who
13 shot the owner of the coney island was looking to
14 kill him. I think it was an accidental discharge
15 and it was a robbery that went bad.

16 In talking to the media I was extremely
17 touched by the community support that came out.
18 That's a very close-knit community down there as
19 you know, and they pulled together and there were
20 many community members out there crying, sobbing.
21 They had worked at the coney island, they knew
22 the owner. He always kept his door ajar.
23 Unfortunately that was what caused his untimely
24 death. He had bulletproof glass, but he always
25 kept the door open and talked to the people as

1 they came in.

2 And I'm certain from what I've heard
3 that if the individual who was doing the robbery
4 had asked for money or something, he probably
5 would have given it to him. He was an Albanian
6 immigrant who worked there for 36 years, believed
7 in the city, believed in the community both in
8 Detroit and River Rouge.

9 Hopefully the community will come out
10 and help us catch this individual. I believe
11 that it's a -- it's tragic to lose any life, but
12 someone who's given the time in the city and
13 works in the community -- anyway, so that's my
14 report.

15 Oh, are we going to do the scholarship
16 now because Wayne State is here? Are we going to
17 do the scholarship?

18 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, sir.

19 ASST. CHIEF DOLUNT: I'm sorry, any
20 questions on the report?

21 COMMISSIONER BELL: I'm sorry, yeah,
22 let's pause. Any questions or comments and I
23 just want to say, Asst. Chief Dolunt, I heard
24 your remarks on the radio and our condolences to
25 the family and to that community and if there's

1 anything we can do, it's just so touching when a
2 person who has been conducting business for
3 a long long period of time and reach his demise
4 under those circumstances, it just hurts the
5 entire -- not just the business community, but
6 the whole fiber of the community.

7 And I can feel your emotional
8 attachment to the pulse of what's happening, so
9 we just should lift up the family and if we can
10 send a condolence card or any type of
11 interaction, I think that's another tremendous
12 senseless shooting and a loss in the community
13 and the family, it's just happening too often and
14 I just want to express sympathy.

15 ASST. CHIEF DOLUNT: Thank you.

16 COMMISSIONER BELL: Now, to --

17 ASST. CHIEF DOLUNT: Okay, Wayne State.
18 So we have this scholarship they're giving us and
19 we really went through the department hard and we
20 found two very good candidates.

21 They both work for me, Sgt. Howard
22 Phillips and Sgt. Dawn Engel. They're excited.

23 You guys want to come up? And does
24 Wayne State want to come up and do this with
25 them? How does this work or AC White could come

1 up and do this.

2 ASST. CHIEF WHITE: Make sure we give
3 them the appropriate acknowledgement for the work
4 and the effort. I also would like to have quite
5 a few people come up.

6 The previous recipients, Lt. Deseco and
7 Sgt. Dana Leath, please come up. As you all are
8 aware, since the Chief's arrival he has made
9 education a priority for the police department.

10 With this program and the assistance of
11 Wayne State University we've been able to put
12 together a chief's scholarship award and it's not
13 just for command officers, in fact it's not for
14 command officers, that was one of the rules, it
15 had to be for up and coming leaders in the
16 organization.

17 The two people you have represented
18 here today certainly represent the fact that they
19 are up and coming leaders. They are Sgt. Howard
20 Phillips, he's a 20-year veteran of the police
21 department. He is currently Number 3 on the
22 lieutenants' list. He currently works at Crime
23 Scene Services and he got his undergrad at
24 Detroit College of Business and a bachelor's of
25 arts and business administration with a GPA of

1 3.89.

2 Then next to him you have Sgt. Dawn
3 Engel, a 17-year veteran of the police
4 department. She is currently 13th on the
5 lieutenants' list. Hard-working patrol sergeant
6 currently assigned to the 10th Precinct, just
7 completed her undergrad work at the University of
8 Michigan with the GPA of 3.38, so if you can
9 join me in congratulating both of them for being
10 this year's recipient of the Chief's Scholarship
11 Award.

12 (APPLAUSE.)

13 ASST. CHIEF WHITE: In addition, and
14 before I turn it over to Wayne State, I want to
15 acknowledge Lt. Mike Deseco. Where is Lt -- hey,
16 Hi, Lou.

17 Lt. Deseco received the award last year
18 or two years ago. He has been on the department
19 for approximately 21 years, graduate also of the
20 University of Michigan and Sgt. Dana Leath on the
21 department since 1994, currently assigned to the
22 Robbery and Shooting Task Force of the 11th
23 Precinct and she was also the previous recipient
24 past two years.

25 So big shoes to fill, let's give them a

1 big hand as well and I know we've got the
2 Michigan grads here, but my alma mater Wayne
3 State University is going to challenge you,
4 they're going to make you write until your
5 fingers cramp and with that I would like to
6 introduce the representative of Wayne State
7 University, we have Dr. Mathur and Dr. Raskin --
8 I've jacked both their names up, but -- so I
9 don't know who's going to represent, but I'd like
10 to give you the opportunity to say a few words.

11 DEAN MATHUR: We already did speak, but
12 I will do it again. Thank everybody for this
13 partnership. We're really looking forward to
14 working again with the Detroit Police Department
15 and we're looking forward to expanding these
16 partnerships further.

17 The first two -- the first cohorts have
18 been excellent for us and I know we're looking
19 forward to working with you and go Warriors and
20 not blue or green.

21 DEAN RASKIN: Thank you very much.
22 Well, I guess our words that we said just a few
23 minutes ago were so inspiring that you invited us
24 back to say some more.

25 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, sir, yes, sir.

1 DEAN RASKIN: Thank you very much, so
2 we said before we're so pleased with the first
3 two recipients two years ago that we said please
4 send us more and we're very pleased that you
5 have. Thank you very much.

6 ASST. CHIEF WHITE: And again, I want
7 to thank Wayne State Grad School for their
8 support. As I mentioned, I graduated from Wayne
9 State and just recently completed paying them
10 off, so this is going to be a -- this is a free
11 program for you all, but the value of it is quite
12 significant.

13 So we cannot thank Wayne State
14 University enough for extending this scholarship
15 program to the Detroit Police Department and
16 we're very proud of our recipients and we want
17 you all to go knock them dead and have some other
18 people ready to go right behind you.

19 They've committed tentatively to keep
20 this program going for the next couple of years,
21 so that's great.

22 Board, I know you probably have a
23 question about the selection process, I'll be
24 more than happy to answer that for you if you
25 would like.

1 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, sure.

2 ASST. CHIEF WHITE: And that was part
3 of my presentation. We put out a teletype and we
4 asked all those who were interested to
5 participate. The standard was that you would be
6 in good standing with the police department,
7 meaning no pending discipline, that you had a
8 good working relationship with the community
9 which was evident by your previous citizen's
10 complaint record that were found to be sustained.

11 And that no sick time abuse and that
12 you had at minimal a 3.0 GPA in your undergrad
13 work because this is going to be very aggressive
14 work, and that you had to submit an essay for
15 completion, so I myself, the Chief, and Officer
16 Greg Matthews who participates in our Special
17 Projects Programs, evaluated the resumes and then
18 we selected a few that made the cut and they went
19 to Wayne State University and they chimed in on
20 who they thought would be a good candidate and
21 that's how we arrived at where we're at.

22 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you.

23 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: I do have an
24 additional question, please. How many applicants
25 did you get each year?

1 ASST. CHIEF WHITE: The first year
2 quite a few more than we did the second. I think
3 the first year was 7, this year I think we got
4 four or five.

5 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Is there any
6 chance that the number in terms of the
7 scholarship awards --

8 DEAN RASKIN: No pressure. So we
9 decided to take two new students this year and
10 two more next year, so that we will have a total
11 of two this year, four next year, four the year
12 after that and then the two who had been in the
13 previous year will hopefully graduate, right,
14 right, right, and then in the last year which is
15 the 2019/2020 year we would have two and then
16 we'll review the agreement then to see, but we
17 hope very much that we can expand it because we
18 think it's a great program and we're very pleased
19 to be a part of it.

20 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Thank you,
21 that's great.

22 COMMISSIONER BELL: I just would make
23 one request, that can we join you as far as any
24 commission who wants to do part of a photo op,
25 can we -- with AC Dolunt.

1 (PHOTOS TAKEN) .

2 COMMISSIONER BELL: Asst. Chief White
3 and Dolunt and Chief Craig and Wayne State, we
4 said go -- what's the colors again? Green and
5 gold, we'll just make sure we're clear, right
6 here in the heart of the city Wayne State and
7 just outstanding opportunity and I know that
8 others -- the ranks at one time would have loved
9 to compete in a program like that, so we're
10 looking forward to these grads coming back,
11 recognizing other potential students.

12 So once again, thank you, that was just
13 outstanding in terms of educational opportunity.
14 That's a reason why a person should stay for the
15 course of DPD, and in terms of that educational
16 opportunity that I just -- on my block in East
17 English Village an officer moved in I think
18 because he got on the housing deal, so he moved
19 in his family and I met him and there's another
20 young lady, police officer, moved in a couple of
21 years ago so on the block in terms of taking
22 advantage of the housing market in East English
23 Village, so that's encouraging when a family
24 makes a commitment to the city of Detroit by
25 living in the city of Detroit, so that's really

1 been a positive.

2 The next big item will be the marijuana
3 dispensary enforcement. We're going to receive
4 an update on that. That's an issue that's really
5 all communities are concerned with. Every
6 meeting that we attend they want to have updates,
7 so I'm pleased that we're getting that
8 enforcement update.

9 I know Bishop Vann has been concerned,
10 Commissioner Brooks and Dewaelsche and we all
11 been concerned about it because it impacts the
12 quality of life in the city of Detroit and thank
13 you for your attendance.

14 MS. MUSLIMANI: Good afternoon,
15 everyone. Good afternoon, my name is Megan
16 Muslimani, I am the deputy chief of criminal
17 enforcement and quality of life for the City of
18 Detroit and I work more through the Law
19 Department under Melvin Hollowell.

20 The City has been extremely involved an
21 working basically as a team effort with the
22 Detroit Police Department, the Buildings & Safety
23 Department and our department working to enforce
24 the illegally operating medical marijuana
25 dispensaries and I've been asked to come here and

1 talk a little bit about what we've done and what
2 we plan to do.

3 To start off, I'll give you guys some
4 numbers so you have a background of what's been
5 going on and where we're at today. So as you
6 know the ordinance was passed earlier this year.
7 We sent out letters to all of the illegally
8 operating medical marijuana dispensaries that we
9 knew of.

10 We warned them that at the end of the
11 month had they not applied for a business license
12 in the city of Detroit they would be shut down.
13 We had some feedback from some of those people
14 who shut down after our letter, but others
15 continued to operate illegally as many of us know
16 from the neighborhoods that we live in.

17 This is one of the most serious
18 projects that we have worked on at the Law
19 Department. It is very important to us as well
20 as the Detroit Police Department who has been
21 instrumental in helping us shut these down.

22 To start off, we have at this point
23 total alleged marijuana dispensaries operating in
24 to city 273. When we first began, that number
25 was 250. We have today as of today open and

1 operating 171, so that number has come down from
2 273.

3 We have closed and others have went out
4 of business on their own, that number is 87.
5 Recently the Law Department has formed a task
6 force to file litigation in civil court Third
7 Circuit civil court to declare these marijuana
8 dispensaries a nuisance per se, which basically
9 means that they are harming the health and safety
10 of the citizens of Detroit.

11 We have had success on those cases. We
12 filed 20 of those and those dispensaries have
13 been shut down. We also have now started a new
14 project with the Buildings & Safety Department
15 where we are going without a court order, but
16 with an order from the Buildings & Safety
17 director that says that this business is using an
18 unlawful use, they're operating without a
19 business license, they're in violation of the
20 Medical Marijuana Act of Michigan and they're in
21 violation of the Public Health Code.

22 We went out with Detroit Police.
23 Comm. Bettison and Sgt. Potts were very helpful
24 in putting together teams for us. They joined
25 our inspectors and we went out to these

1 dispensaries and closed them down.

2 Now, it's important to remember because
3 people always ask did we seize the marijuana, did
4 we take what was inside.

5 Number 1, the City of Detroit only has
6 jurisdiction through our department for the
7 unlawful use of the business, that these people
8 are operating without a business license. That's
9 where our jurisdiction ends.

10 And our inspectors have the same
11 jurisdiction. We write tickets for the illegal
12 signs because part of the problem is all the
13 green in our city. We want these signs taken
14 down, we want these buildings painted back to
15 colors that match the decor and what it looks
16 like in these neighborhoods.

17 So we are issuing tickets for that.
18 We're issuing tickets for no certificate of
19 occupancy because you cannot get a certificate
20 with an illegal use. The marijuana inside
21 belongs to patients. Those patients have
22 possession of the marijuana plants their
23 caregiver is maintaining for them, so it's kind
24 of -- you have to think about it as it's their
25 medicine.

1 So if we go in and we confiscate the
2 marijuana not knowing who it belongs to and which
3 patient it belongs to, we've actually taken from
4 the patient and not the business operator who is
5 actually committing the illegal acts.

6 We don't want the City to be liable for
7 these illegal takings, so that is why we're
8 focused on shutting the dispensaries down and we
9 have -- we went out yesterday and shut down five
10 with this method through the Buildings & Safety
11 Department and we will shut down 10 more next
12 week.

13 We are working the best that we can
14 with the resources that we have and we encourage
15 the City and citizens of Detroit to let us know
16 when they see things, call the police, make
17 reports, call the Buildings & Safety Department,
18 let us know when you see things that don't look
19 right to you in your community.

20 And from when we've been out in the
21 field and talked to citizens people have ran up
22 and thanked us, people have been very happy about
23 what's going on.

24 We have a -- if you see these big
25 orange signs on buildings when you're driving,

1 that means they've been shut down, so we are
2 working together to get this done. It's just --
3 it's a long process.

4 And I'll be happy to answer any
5 questions anyone has here today.

6 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Mr. Chair,
7 actually I have a comment. I would like to get
8 an update periodically. I think this is so
9 extremely helpful and beneficial to us as we talk
10 to our communities because there is a significant
11 improvement in the number from -- first of all it
12 was up larger than I thought 273 to 171. That's
13 outstanding, and I'm so glad to hear that.

14 But the other thing is that I've
15 learned something new. I always thought these
16 green-painted buildings were an eyesore and we
17 have a lot in the community that I live in, every
18 other block, these green buildings, and I didn't
19 know that there was actually something you could
20 do about it.

21 And you're saying that you're asking
22 them to repaint them and thank you so much for
23 that. That's fantastic, so I'm glad to hear
24 that, and then the other thing new that I learned
25 was that I didn't realize that the plants

1 belonged to the patients. That is something new.

2 And so we just have to have a better
3 understanding so that we can communicate to our
4 communities and thank you so much, I really do
5 appreciate the information.

6 COMMISSIONER BELL: Commissioners?

7 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: Yes, I have a
8 question. Are you going to close down X amount
9 of marijuana dispensaries? Do you have a number
10 that you would like to stop, that's Number 1.

11 Number 2, is the dispensary on East
12 Jefferson across from Belle Isle, is that still
13 open?

14 MS. MUSLIMANI: I'll answer Number 1
15 first. So the number of dispensaries that we
16 want to close, there is no number. We want
17 everyone who is illegally operating to cease
18 operations, so as many illegal dispensaries that
19 we identify, we will put forth whatever resources
20 are necessary to shut them down.

21 We don't have a specific number because
22 they pop up sometimes, the ones we didn't know
23 about, and also people are in the process right
24 now, there's an appellate process, so there are
25 people who are trying to do it the legal way.

1 They have applied to the City of
2 Detroit for a business license, they have
3 submitted a site plan review, they have submitted
4 a business plan telling us what's going on and
5 why they should be granted this license.

6 Because of zoning ordinances and how
7 the city is set up under the drug-free zones
8 federal law which we've enacted through state
9 law, you cannot have a dispensary in certain
10 areas. For example, we don't want a dispensary
11 next to a school, we don't want a dispensary by a
12 daycare, by a park and we know our beautiful city
13 is full of parks.

14 So you cannot -- there's not too many
15 areas where these dispensaries are allowed, but
16 there are some areas where people will be granted
17 the license to operate.

18 Number 2, the location on Belle Isle, I
19 can't tell you off the top of my head, but I
20 could definitely check and send you that
21 information if you like.

22 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: I would
23 appreciate it because that's how it came to the
24 Commissioners.

25 MS. MUSLIMANI: So you said Belle Isle

1 on Jefferson?

2 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: The citizens felt
3 it was too close to Belle Isle.

4 MS. MUSLIMANI: Okay, I will definitely
5 look into that for you.

6 COMMISSIONER VANN: Mr. Chair, I'm
7 still just a bit not clear with regard to the
8 marijuana that is left after you close a
9 marijuana place down. You're saying it belongs
10 to the patients --

11 MS. MUSLIMANI: Correct.

12 COMMISSIONER VANN: -- that are there?

13 MS. MUSLIMANI: The patients wouldn't
14 necessarily be in the dispensary, it's that the
15 caregivers are in the dispensary maintaining that
16 marijuana plant, growing the plant for the
17 patient. The patient then returns to the
18 dispensary and picks up their portion of the
19 medicine. The patient can't pick up 12 ounces or
20 24 ounces, they have to continually go back
21 to the dispensary and pick up I believe it's 2
22 ounces at this point.

23 COMMISSIONER VANN: So when you shut it
24 down for its illegality, then what happens to the
25 -- I'm still not clear as to what happens to the

1 marijuana.

2 MS. MUSLIMANI: So the caregiver would
3 take that plant because they're still responsible
4 for that plant. The illegal use is operating a
5 business in the city of Detroit without a
6 business license. That's what we have
7 jurisdiction for.

8 So the plants inside that belong to the
9 patients are maintained by the caregiver. The
10 caregiver retains constructive possession over
11 that plant, so it's up to him or her to maintain
12 that plant with the contract that they have with
13 their patient through the State of Michigan.

14 COMMISSIONER VANN: Sounds a little
15 convoluted to me.

16 MS. MUSLIMANI: It's state of Michigan
17 law.

18 COMMISSIONER BELL: Commissioners, any
19 others questions? Thank you for the update and
20 I'd just like to share Commissioner Dewaelsche's
21 concern that you keep us in the loop in terms of
22 basically if we make progress on this particular
23 enforcement and it's an eye-opener on this five
24 minutes about the building and about the patient
25 and marijuana and the caregiver and all that, so

1 we've been informed.

2 MS. MUSLIMANI: Thank you.

3 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you for your
4 involvement.

5 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Mr. Chair,
6 also just to clarify that the last time when I
7 asked for regular reports I had suggested
8 quarterly if that would be acceptable.

9 COMMISSIONER BELL: DC Washington, if
10 could we coordinate that quarterly, that would be
11 very very helpful.

12 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: Thank you.

13 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you.

14 Standing committee reports or standing
15 subcommittee reports, both, whatever.

16 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: I'd like to --
17 good afternoon. I'd like to give a report on
18 recruiting. On August 15, Commissioner
19 Dewaelsche, Lt. Gardner and two of her officers
20 from her department, Officer Holly Low and Star
21 Gonzales met. Oh, I forget, Capt. Hope was with
22 us.

23 We met to put this really --
24 strategize, organize and plan this recruiting
25 committee and we came up with some really great

1 things to do.

2 First of all, when commissioners have
3 their meetings once a month in a community we
4 will go back to that community and recruit and
5 we're doing pretty good on that.

6 Secondly, we're in neighborhoods west
7 side, east wide, southwest, high schools,
8 colleges, churches, activity centers, business
9 job fairs, and we have some updates.

10 We have on October 19 from 10 to 3 we
11 have the BYT which is the Bing Youth Institute
12 which will tour the police headquarters. Lunch,
13 transportation will be sponsored by the Bing
14 Group and not only will they get a tour and find
15 out all about what being a police is about, we
16 want them to know that you're not just going to
17 be a policeman. We want you to know that you
18 will have a career.

19 And then we're going to have officers
20 talking to them on what how do you react when
21 approached by a policeman because these are young
22 students. So we're getting them prepared to
23 decide on a career path. That's one of the
24 things we're doing.

25 We also have Capt. Hope who's putting

1 together recruiting group at Sacred Heart
2 Community Activity Building. We have -- let me
3 see what other groups we have -- we have Wayne
4 County Community College, we have all six of
5 their campuses starting the middle part of
6 September through October they will be working
7 with the students from the -- if I can read my
8 own writing here -- they well be working with
9 students to recruit them so that's in the Justice
10 Department area.

11 Now, we know that the Mayor would like
12 to have at least -- this is what I've been told
13 -- he would like to have at least 200 new
14 policemen a year, 40 a month. Now, we're not
15 just looking for quantity, we're looking for
16 quality. We're looking for people who have their
17 communities at heart who are willing to be the
18 best policeman they can be and who's willing to
19 not only be the best policeman, but to also
20 police their own policemen. I think that's very
21 important.

22 So coming up we have -- these are the
23 activities that are going on within recruiting.
24 We've had the east side mall 20 candidates, 20
25 recruits. We've had southwest on August 25 with

1 four candidates. We've had BP gas station, 11
2 candidates.

3 August 18 church on the east side seven
4 candidates and also August 18 Eastland Mall, 12
5 candidates. Apollo Market Community Fair, six
6 candidates.

7 We have the Metro Detroit Job Fair
8 August 26 on Van Dyke, five candidates. Access
9 Detroit, 10 -- on the 10th, but none qualified.
10 However, on July 27 we had seven qualified from
11 Access Detroit and I'm going to turn the rest of
12 this report over to Eva because Eva's company is
13 doing a lot to recruit.

14 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: We're trying.
15 So I'm just going to add a little bit more to
16 what you've indicated, Commissioner Brooks, and
17 that is we have a couple of ideas that -- the one
18 thing that we wanted to do as a group is to meet
19 regularly so that we could put some -- strategize
20 and put some plans together.

21 And what we decided was that we would
22 try to coordinate calendars, coordinate calendars
23 not just from our organization, but other
24 organizations that have either education or
25 workforce activities or work with youth on

1 different non-profit groups so that we can
2 coordinate calendars and make sure that, you
3 know, the recruitment office is at all of these
4 events.

5 And in fact the organization that I
6 work for is Workforce Development, we work with
7 the one stops, we're working with the City of
8 Detroit and we operate the three one stops in the
9 city of Detroit, the Samaritan Center, the
10 Michigan Avenue One Stop Center, the Northwest
11 Activity Center.

12 And so what we did at this meeting is
13 we put together a calendar for September and so
14 we're going to have a kind of ongoing recruitment
15 at each of these one stops each weeks in
16 September.

17 So on September 7 we're going to have
18 recruitment activities from 9 to 2 at the
19 Samaritan Center which is on the east side on
20 Connor near I-94. And then on Saturday,
21 September 17 we're going to have 9 to 2 at
22 Michigan Avenue One Stop which is at Michigan and
23 Wyoming. And then at the Northwest Activity
24 Center we're going to have recruitment from -- on
25 Thursday, September 22 from 9 to 2, and then

1 again on October 5 Samaritan Center from 9 to 2.

2 So the idea is we're going to put a
3 calendar together. It's not going to just be
4 this one recruitment activity, it's going to be
5 ongoing and we're hoping that that's going to
6 improve the numbers of bringing in candidates.

7 The other thing that I suggested and I
8 I'm going to present this to the Board because
9 you all are affiliated with different groups,
10 with different organizations, churches, you know,
11 the unions, etc, we have Ser Metro has an annual
12 event each year. It's our biggest fundraiser,
13 our annual event, and this year we're celebrating
14 our 45th anniversary on October 25.

15 And what we did was we offered the
16 Detroit Police Department to put an ad in our
17 program book, and this is how much we've -- I
18 mean, as soon as I said that Officer Howe and Lt.
19 Gardner got on it right away and they actually
20 put an ad together that we're going to include in
21 our program and it's fantastic. It's a beautiful
22 beautiful ad.

23 And what I would suggest is that if any
24 of you have events, this is a complimentary ad.
25 Do that, get the department to give you an ad so

1 that you can put it in your book and we're going
2 to reach 1,000 people with this ad because we're
3 going to distribute 1,000 program books.

4 So I would recommend that we do things
5 like that to help the police development in our
6 capacity as well. And so that's basically all I
7 have to report.

8 We did ask that flyers and ads be also
9 translated in Spanish if it was being done in
10 Southwest Detroit and we are going to do some
11 things in Southwest Detroit, and the other thing
12 is that we also said that it would be very
13 helpful to put information about the tuition
14 assistance because I think people look at that
15 and they say the salary, the tuition assistance,
16 it's all helpful information for recruitment.

17 And so those are some of the things
18 that we talked about in addition.

19 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: And also there's
20 going to be a table set up at your luncheon, so
21 there will be some recruiting done at the
22 luncheon.

23 COMMISSIONER DEWAELESCHE: And we'll
24 have about 700 or 800 people that attend our
25 luncheon, so we're doing everything we can and I

1 think all of us can participate.

2 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: And one other I
3 forgot. When we had the slow roller presentation
4 I talked with the policewoman and they're
5 interested in doing some recruiting, so Gail
6 Oxendine, we're going to have you with lots of
7 young men and women.

8 (APPLAUSE.)

9 COMMISSIONER BELL: Well, all I can say
10 is they are two aggressive commissioners that
11 have taken the bull by the horns and anything we
12 can do as commissioners, when you're on the east
13 side, and I might even travel to the west side,
14 for some of your events, but there is no excuse
15 and not drop in on the Samaritan Center, if we
16 all be committed to support you in any way we can
17 I think it would really be plus plus plus and I
18 just can't -- because if we don't toot our horn
19 and we don't promote and we're sitting here
20 weekly in meetings and talking, but we're not out
21 there doing the work, and I think that's crucial
22 versus the dialog which we need to get out there.

23 The department is doing an outstanding
24 -- I'm impressed with the academy class. I think
25 we'll be going there again in the next couple of

1 weeks, but this is the type of leadership and
2 involvement and it's just not oversight, it's
3 involvement, it's engaging and I think that's the
4 crucial -- that sort of leads me into
5 Commissioner Brooks shared, if you have the
6 opportunity probably go online, the New York
7 Times on August 29, they have an article --
8 August 29 which is on a Monday New York Times
9 talks about with an eye on reform, New Orleans is
10 training officers to police each other and I
11 haven't had a chance to read, I'm going to give
12 it back and maybe we can circulate it to all the
13 commissioners, put these as the steps that we
14 need to be engaging in terms of quite positive.

15 And I know Memphis PD -- I'm from that
16 part of the country -- they went through a whole
17 lot of politics there and they lost a whole lot
18 of officers, so we're competing against Memphis
19 and they're offering some really fantastic
20 programs to get people to join that department.

21 I think they were down like 400 some
22 officers in a short period of time because of
23 whatever transpired. I haven't had a chance to
24 travel there this year, but I just know that if
25 we toot our own horn and promote it and be

1 positive and I think -- we hear more and more
2 positive things coming out of Detroit from us and
3 the media, so that's a good thing.

4 So I'm going to pass this back and
5 another article talked about citizen police
6 academy, we got that here in terms of citizen
7 police academy.

8 So we just have to tune in all the
9 positive things that are going on and if you
10 would share that, that would be great. Thank
11 you.

12 COMMISSIONER BROOKS: I have one other
13 thing. I don't know if he's in the audience
14 today, but I just want to thank the young man
15 from Coleman Young's office who called me with a
16 young man who was interested in being recruited
17 and I made the announcement to the people out
18 there if you know of anyone that wants to be part
19 of the finest police department in the United
20 States come to the Detroit Police Department.
21 Thank you.

22 COMMISSIONER VANN: Mr. Chair, I just
23 want to add that I had a huge event at Chene Park
24 recently with several thousand people and had a
25 recruiting table there, and the information

1 that's on this flyer that was just passed around
2 is very compelling.

3 Most of the people in the community
4 believe that police work is not necessarily a
5 regarding career. And when they look and see
6 some of the benefits and some of the, of course,
7 salary increases that have taken place it becomes
8 a much more palatable option for a lot of people
9 who have already had preconceived notions about
10 what the police -- what policemen are offered and
11 what they're not offered and I think that the
12 package has been enhanced in such a way that we
13 need to really toot our horns with it and I think
14 several recruits came out of my event because of
15 that.

16 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you,
17 Commissioner Vann. That's basically what it's
18 all -- we just do our part in our own little
19 segment of our community efforts will just
20 enhance the marketing, so I appreciate your
21 efforts in terms of -- as we move forward. So
22 we're on a roll and we're not slow rolling.

23 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Through the
24 Chair, another standing committee report and I'm
25 going to ask Chief Drake to come up just to

1 expound on it just for a moment here.

2 In terms of what was floated out of the
3 committee two weeks ago by the Citizen Complaint
4 Committee, the Chair is Commissioner Shelby who
5 isn't here present today and I was in attendance
6 and this is pertaining to the spreadsheet that
7 you all have in your packet today which has the
8 entries for the Data Driven Detroit and this is
9 the information from OCI that will be -- there's
10 going to be a motion on the table today that we
11 accept this and also that we implement this in
12 terms of putting it online with Data Driven
13 Detroit.

14 First and foremost before you speak, I
15 want to thank you and thank Alexis Palmer too for
16 the work you've done on this.

17 CHIEF INV. DAVIS-DRAKE: Thank you,
18 sir. Yes, actually what you have before you is
19 the spreadsheet, this is just a sample of the
20 information that would be on the Data Driven
21 Detroit Excel sheet that will be provided to Data
22 Driven Detroit to basically showcase the
23 information that may be valuable to the public
24 coming out of the Office of the Chief
25 Investigator.

1 We started actually this last year, I
2 think it was mid last year. I think as a matter
3 of fact former commissioner -- former Chairperson
4 Commissioner Carter was very instrumental in
5 helping us put that together as well.

6 So yeah, this is what you have before
7 you. These are the elements, the data elements
8 that we are considering and it just is a matter
9 of the Board giving feedback and letting us know
10 which direction you want to go in.

11 We do want to have something from the
12 Office of the Chief Investigator, I think that
13 was pretty evident from what we were hearing from
14 the Board when this project first was started.

15 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Yes, ma'am,
16 thank you and I'd just like to add that this was
17 something that came out of White House, President
18 Obama and also the Justice Department in some of
19 those meetings that this sort of data be posted
20 so it's accessible to the citizens.

21 So at this time I'd like to put a
22 motion on the table that we accept this and also
23 that in the future or as soon as possible that it
24 posted with Data Driven Detroit.

25 COMMISSIONER DEWAELSCHÉ: Support.

1 COMMISSIONER BELL: It's been properly
2 moved and supported to support the efforts of
3 Data Driven Detroit as outlined by Commissioner
4 Crawford and the Chief Investigator. You have a
5 copy before us, something that we are familiar
6 with. It's part of the 21st century efforts and
7 Justice Department and President Obama and a
8 young lady who worked extensively in that intern
9 program, so any discussion?

10 Those in favor, aye?

11 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

12 COMMISSIONER BELL: Those opposed?
13 Motion carries and thank you, appreciate it.

14 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Thank you.

15 CHIEF INV. DAVIS-DRAKE: You're quite
16 welcome, thank you.

17 COMMISSIONER BELL: Any other committee
18 reports? Mr. Hicks, Secretary to the Board.

19 SECRETARY HICKS: Mr. Chair, I do not
20 have any report. I would want to mention that my
21 understanding of the report that you just passed
22 that you're also giving the authority for that to
23 be updated monthly, is that correct?

24 I want to make sure that that's clear
25 for the report, that there's an update monthly.

1 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, sir.

2 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Yes, sir, thank
3 you.

4 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you, sir.
5 Moving on to new business.

6 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Through the
7 Chair, the issue that came up the other day was
8 in the media in terms of the -- I guess it's the
9 four individuals not being charged with threats,
10 allegedly threatening to kill Detroit police
11 officers.

12 I have concerns because I read a couple
13 of articles, most notably the one in The Detroit
14 Free Press, where some comments were made about
15 the Wayne County Prosecutor.

16 The president of the DPOA -- I'm
17 paraphrasing what he said -- he wasn't surprised
18 that the prosecutor didn't -- wouldn't charge
19 them and that she didn't more or less support the
20 front line heroes.

21 Now, I'm not surprised that the
22 president of the DPOA said that because this is
23 what presidents of police unions, some of them,
24 are doing across the country. They stand up and
25 make -- make these sort of statements and I

1 believe he said it was somewhat despicable. I
2 think his comments were despicable.

3 And as we well know the history, and we
4 may not know, some of us, that Mark Diaz was
5 federally indicted and prosecuted, however he was
6 found not guilty for some things that occurred in
7 the 4th Precinct and I was over there working at
8 that time. Wasn't involved, but I know some of
9 the history along with Officer Molendez too.

10 Having said that, my concerns are here
11 is that we not go back to what we just came out
12 of, a Consent Decree and I'll say that again,
13 that we not go back to what we just came out of,
14 the consent decree. It's quite alarming.

15 I talked to the Wayne County Prosecutor
16 today. She has an eight-page report/statement,
17 press release, that she's going to e-mail me and
18 I will e-mail it to all those on the Commission
19 in reference to -- because what was in the
20 article, of course it didn't cover what was in
21 her eight-page report as to the breakdown --
22 allegedly reasons why she chose not to bring
23 charges against these individuals.

24 Having said that, I will expound on
25 something years ago that we did as a group of us

1 and I was vice-president of DAAPA, Detroit
2 African-American Police Association.

3 We had concerns with something like
4 this years ago. We established workshops.
5 Myself, president at that time and there were
6 others who were part of the organization, we set
7 up workshops.

8 We reached out to then Prosecutor Kym
9 Worthy who ultimately became Judge Kym Worthy and
10 every year we ran workshops. Those workshops set
11 up by the prosecutor and also Judge Kenny were
12 open to any Detroit police officer in this
13 department at that time, because it was really
14 appalling what we witnessed in court such as
15 courtroom demeanor, courtroom testimony,
16 preparation, how there was a lack of preparation
17 for the cases. This is what we did. It wasn't
18 -- had nothing to do with the department, we did
19 it outside of the department because we were
20 concerned.

21 And the Wayne County Prosecutor was
22 concerned too and she was a part of that and we
23 did it for several years and it's open to anybody
24 in the department at no cost, and as a matter of
25 fact we even did mock courtroom settings in the

1 Frank Murphy Hall of Justice.

2 So that's something that I'm kind of
3 familiar with the issue. Sometimes things may
4 not be allegedly done correctly in the courts and
5 I do know and understand and having worked with
6 the prosecutor and talked to her for years what's
7 needed.

8 Also too, there was an issue of -- and
9 I get back to Mark Diaz's comment that she's not
10 backing our heroes. Not true. Wayne County
11 Prosecutor -- and this was years ago -- I went to
12 her because there was some issue and she had her
13 staff do the research as to how many people that
14 she prosecuted who assaulted, who shot at police
15 officers.

16 Because there was always this issue
17 about police officers she prosecuted, but the
18 number was astounding as to those that she
19 successfully prosecuted and convicted for
20 assaulting, shooting or whatever it was at police
21 officers.

22 So I want to set the record straight
23 and I bring it from a historical perspective and
24 a personal perspective and also a perspective of
25 being involved years ago ground level.

1 And in our conversation she says her
2 calendar is open for October, she will be glad to
3 come speak to the Board, you can coordinate that
4 through me or Mr. Hicks, and reaching out to her
5 scheduling person, but sometime in October she
6 would like to come and speak to the Board and
7 also too as a result of this she's going to
8 implement something and reach out to the
9 department and I'll have her explain that and
10 state that in terms of -- one might say some
11 training or workshop or something of that nature
12 so that cases are prepared and all the i's are
13 dotted and the t's are crossed. Thank you.

14 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you,
15 Commissioner Crawford. We can work out the
16 scheduling of Prosecutor Worthy and she's been --
17 she was with us last year in terms -- but
18 definitely we want to DPD hear from her in
19 October. We can work out the scheduling.

20 I just want to say that it's an issue,
21 but as we well know police officers hear about
22 threats all the time from citizens and not always
23 threats can go forward in terms of prosecution,
24 but people make threats all the time, but I'm not
25 going to get into the pros and cons.

1 I have a great deal of respect for the
2 Prosecutor Worthy in terms of her office and how
3 they operate. Sometimes we're not always happy
4 with the decision, but there's a process of due
5 diligence. They make the final decision and we
6 just initiate the paperwork as it goes forward,
7 so we're looking forward to it.

8 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: One other
9 point, Commissioner Bell, also too as you recall
10 weeks ago there was an article that was entitled
11 -- it was July 14, but I brought this article and
12 read into the record at the Commission and it
13 said, "Hold your tongue, threats are not free
14 speech" and it was so important that the message
15 got out on the educational perspective to the
16 youth of the community and all of those to not
17 threaten to kill police officers, not only police
18 officers, not threaten to kill anybody, and
19 that's what I stated weeks ago and read this into
20 the record at the meeting because it was
21 important to enforce everyone, be it social
22 media, whatever, not to threaten the life of a
23 police officer or anyone in our community. Thank
24 you.

25 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you, sir.

1 Any old business? Announcements, we already
2 highlighted on several different occasions about
3 our meeting next week Thursday, September 8 at
4 6:30 PM at 1776 West Warren and we have the
5 flyers.

6 Next community meeting is in October
7 13th at the 6th Precinct, location is
8 forthcoming. And perhaps that might be something
9 we entertain, we have that discussion in terms of
10 the prosecutor coming out to speak and I think
11 it's more meaningful when there's community
12 engagement of a person of that level because
13 you're reaching the community, and plus the DPD
14 concerns too.

15 The next item would be oral
16 communication from the audience. You have two
17 minutes, please give your name.

18 If you're coming forward to speak, I
19 would ask that you come to the front row, that
20 would help us expedite the process because the
21 time is moving on, you've been here for an hour
22 and a half or more.

23 MS. BUTLER: Good afternoon. My name
24 is Fazia Butler and I'm a community activist and
25 I counted five Commissioners that were appointed

1 by the Mayor and I need your help.

2 I have gone to Buildings & Safety, I've
3 written letters, I've done everything that I
4 could possibly do because we're having a problem
5 of a lot of the car places, repair car places
6 opening in our communities, and it is destroying
7 our community.

8 And it's over 25 within one square mile
9 and you know that's too many. And I have written
10 letters, I have done all I can do, so what else
11 am I to do but to appeal to you.

12 Since you have been appointed by the
13 Mayor I'm hoping that you will help us in this
14 area. There was -- when Mr. Nate Ford was over
15 Buildings & Safety when he was director there, he
16 was doing an excellent job with Operation
17 Compliance. And I have gone downtown and I have
18 seen some letters have been shown to me where the
19 Mayor has not allowed the letters to go out to --
20 for these different businesses and Operation
21 Compliance, it helped as far as closing down -- a
22 lot of the businesses were operating without
23 licenses and a lot of the homes that the people
24 weren't keeping up, not because they couldn't
25 afford it or either could apply for grants,

1 Operation Compliance was helping us in this area
2 to keep the community together.

3 And I'm desperate for these car places
4 to be closed down in our community because it's
5 just destroying the community and I live in a
6 beautiful community, and that's why we moved
7 there.

8 COMMISSIONER VANN: Mr. Chair, I am a
9 bit concerned about this particular issue because
10 as I go throughout the city I see these sort of
11 bootleg collision shops in front yards of
12 residences, I see them in obvious code
13 violations. What is the enforcement, I'd like to
14 ask, of these kind of establishments?

15 COMMISSIONER BELL: One, I'm not
16 peaking for the AC, I don't think that's an area
17 of policing enforcement.

18 COMMISSIONER VANN: Buildings & Safety.

19 COMMISSIONER BELL: I would suggest
20 that you contact Dr. Divers for one who worked
21 for Council -- well, you're shaking you head,
22 ma'am. I'm just suggesting --

23 MS. BUTLER: I understand.

24 COMMISSIONER BELL: I'll suggest the
25 Mayor's office and also -- yes, ma'am Director

1 David Bell.

2 Talk to Deputy Chief Washington at the
3 end of the meeting and she can steer you in the
4 right direction, but it's not something that we
5 are engaging in as far as commission of the
6 police department, but we understand, I see them
7 operating all the time and I don't know to
8 process, whether it be a tire place or whatever
9 that is, but I think she can give you direction,
10 but a councilperson always always tell people
11 that you need to interact with your councilperson
12 for one and then identify -- because they know
13 the resources of the Mayor. A director just like
14 DC Washington appointed David Bell, but basically
15 Brenda Jones even though they're on summer break,
16 her staff is still engaged I'm pretty sure they
17 can help you, so that would be the proper forum
18 for you to -- don't get -- I understand your
19 concern, but this is not the proper arena.

20 MS. BUTLER: Okay, but you're directing
21 me to who to speak with, I understand that. I'm
22 not -- I have spoken to the Mayor himself. He
23 has directed me to David Bell, attorney Howell.
24 What they do they speak to you at that moment and
25 nothing happens.

1 COMMISSIONER BELL: Well, just be
2 persistent, ma'am.

3 MS. BUTLER: Since 2010 I have been
4 persistent and nothing has happened.

5 COMMISSIONER BELL: Okay, we
6 understand. Thank you. Yes, ma'am.

7 MS. ELLIS: Good afternoon, Mr. Chair.
8 My name is Bishop Linda Ellis from Indianapolis,
9 Indiana. I'm here on behalf of my brother which
10 was murdered in December. I'm hoping that he was
11 not one of the closed cases.

12 I will stay within my two minutes.
13 Everything seemed -- if it had not been for the
14 Lord and for Crime Stoppers, we wouldn't have any
15 communication whatsoever from the Detroit Police
16 Department, that detective.

17 The number they provide us with is
18 always full, you can never get through. So I
19 have been here five times. We've even heard
20 press conferences too. Crime Stoppers really
21 really and truthfully been a liaison and I've
22 been listening to you all and I'm so happy to
23 hear that I really and truthfully feel that
24 you're trying to reach the community. I feel on
25 behalf of my family and other families that's

1 grieving and hurting, if you invite more people
2 with -- from the community with those unsolved
3 cases to let them know that you do care because
4 right now I do know one thing, the detective
5 would not call me back. I only spoke to him
6 twice. My brother was murdered.

7 We passed out flyers and I'm asking you
8 all please help me know how to communicate with
9 you all, if you all would just communicate with
10 the families.

11 I do know that it laid there dormant
12 for a while. Another detective took it on about
13 four or six weeks ago. She's accomplished more
14 in four weeks than he has in nine months. And
15 like I'm saying, if it had not been for Crime
16 Stoppers we don't know what else to do, so I'm
17 coming to you all to ask you to please help us
18 come to a closure, give us some kind of answer.

19 I don't know if it takes communication
20 from Wayne State to educate the department or
21 detective, I have no idea, but I know we deserve
22 closure.

23 COMMISSIONER BELL: AC Dolunt, I assume
24 you're willing to interact with the young lady.

25 ASST. CHIEF DOLUNT: Oh, I'm going to

1 interact with her. I'm not pleased with that at
2 all, so we'll talk after the meeting for sure.

3 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Through the
4 Chair, ma'am, what is your brother's name?

5 MS. ELLIS: My brother's name is Robert
6 Louis Ellis. He made news, he was burned beyond
7 recognition, he was murdered December 23, a house
8 over on Archdale and it's a long drawn-out -- but
9 keep in mind if you all would please whenever the
10 families are hurting and it's still not closed we
11 have to relive this day by day.

12 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Yes, ma'am.
13 Well, I want to offer my condolences to you and
14 the family. I'm deeply saddened by your loss and
15 I want to express that and I know this entire
16 Commission expresses their condolence to you and
17 the family and if you could convey that to the
18 family members also coming from the Commission.

19 MS. ELLIS: Okay. I would say this.
20 By me being from Indianapolis, Indiana I do
21 respect police officers. I have a lot of them
22 that are friends and family and all that, so I do
23 respect. I know that you all are really and
24 truthfully busy, you're under a lot of pressure
25 and all of that, so I work closely with them as

1 well. Thank you.

2 COMMISSIONER BELL: Ma'am, we'll make
3 sure that we put you in contact -- her first name
4 is Brenda, I can't think of her last name -- but
5 it's a group of mothers similar to what we had
6 here in Detroit SOSAD that organized in the last
7 two or three years and they're on a not just a
8 local forum, they also interact on a national
9 forum and AC Dolunt is well familiar with that
10 organization of mothers who are concerned.

11 And in the last year or so there's been
12 annual -- last two or three years -- efforts to
13 bring them together. There's no such thing as a
14 closed case on an open homicide and that squad is
15 working, so I think Capt. Slappy is working, but
16 I think AC Dolunt will give you some assistance
17 in terms of the proper protocol in terms of how
18 we can help you out, and Commissioner Crawford
19 took your name of the victim and we can just
20 pretty much see how we can bridge that gap of
21 communication, and thank you for bringing this to
22 our attention.

23 MS. ELLIS: And it might even help out
24 for you -- with your recruitment strategies for
25 the families that are hurting, just invite them

1 to --

2 COMMISSIONER BELL: They do come,
3 ma'am. We do interact with them and the
4 department does more interactions with them, and
5 for a period of time they will show up at our
6 meetings and now they have a close relationship
7 with Chief Craig and his team in terms of -- I
8 just can't think of the proper name, but we'll
9 make sure you get that information.

10 MS. ELLIS: Let me step out of your
11 business. Thank you.

12 MS. SMITH: Good afternoon to the
13 Chief, AC, and to the Commissioners. I'll be
14 brief because it's time to go.

15 I would like -- Mr. Brown, would you
16 distribution these for me, please. It's a little
17 summary of what I want them to have, and I just
18 want to know is it proper for what Judge Craig
19 did the other day. That was so embarrassing.
20 Excuse me -- oh, Strong.

21 COMMISSIONER BELL: Let me say this.

22 MS. SMITH: I'm through. I just wanted
23 to find out --

24 COMMISSIONER BELL: Judge Strong is the
25 judge in his courtroom, so what is proper,

1 improper, the judge is -- the officer recognized
2 that that's how to conduct business.

3 We don't have any comments at least in
4 reference to right or wrong. He is the judge and
5 he is the judge in terms of the order in his
6 courtroom, that's pretty much how it works in
7 terms of the system, but he is the judge.

8 I don't have any personal knowledge.

9 MS SMITH: Chairman Bell, I didn't
10 finish, but since you made that statement I've
11 been around here a long time, I've been in
12 courtrooms just about all over downtown, so I
13 know what the ruling is.

14 But what I was just going to say, he
15 did it in a way where it didn't embarrass in my
16 estimation the officers. That's what I was going
17 to say. I know Craig will do what he want to do
18 as far as that's concerned, all judges do that,
19 but I just didn't feel like that he embarrassed
20 them. He did it in a decent way and they got up
21 and left decently. That's all I was going to
22 say.

23 And as far as AC is concerned, I hope
24 you didn't get a stomach ache with all them hot
25 dogs you ate.

1 ASST. CHIEF DOLUNT: That's today.

2 COMMISSIONER BELL: If we can get out
3 of here.

4 MS. SMITH: Thank you so much.

5 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: We may need to
6 have a conversation after the meeting about some
7 particular incident, you and I, or the
8 Commission, something that has occurred.

9 MS. SMITH: Oh, I can wait.

10 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Thank you.

11 COMMISSIONER BELL: Yes, sir, I see one
12 more, young man want to come forward.

13 MR. ROGFORD: Good afternoon, my name
14 is Kenneth Rogford. I'm speaking on behalf of
15 Tri-County Towing. I'm trying to aid them to get
16 their towing and wrecking license back. They
17 don't understand why they were not allowed to tow
18 for -- they were removed from the towing June 1,
19 2016 and they do not know -- he's an older
20 gentleman, they've been in business since 1960
21 something.

22 He does not know why he was not allowed
23 to keep towing and wrecking in the city of
24 Detroit and he came in front of the Board
25 probably a month or so ago to see why he was

1 removed, and he paid all his fines. He may have
2 been late, but someone said he was embezzling
3 money, but this guy never embezzled no money ever
4 and we've been doing business and he's been
5 knowing me since I was a little kid, so I'm
6 trying to help him help the City and help hisself
7 stay in business.

8 His business is located off of Six Mile
9 and Sherwood and he has a towing company called
10 Tri-County Towing.

11 COMMISSIONER BELL: If you would speak
12 to our Secretary Mr. Hicks after the meeting and
13 we can take your information and get back with
14 you on that.

15 MR. ROGFORD: Just need clarity.

16 COMMISSIONER BELL: Thank you. If
17 there's no other business the Chair will
18 entertain a motion for adjournment.

19 COMMISSIONER SANDERS: So moved.

20 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Second.

21 COMMISSIONER BELL: Been properly moved
22 and second. Those in favor aye?

23 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

24 COMMISSIONER BELL: We stand adjourned.
25 Thank you.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

(Proceedings concluded at

4:37 p.m.)

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER

STATE OF MICHIGAN)

) SS

COUNTY OF WAYNE)

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I reported
stenographically the foregoing proceedings at the
time and place hereinbefore set forth; that
thereafter the same was reduced to computer
transcription and that this is a full, true,
complete and correct transcription of said
proceedings.



DALE E. ROSE,

CSR-0087

A
able 10:20 21:13
 24:14 36:11
abreast 18:10
absence 18:16
 21:25
Absolutely 24:24
abuse 40:11
AC 5:25 9:7 31:5
 31:9 35:25
 41:25 75:16
 78:23 80:9,16
 81:13 82:23
academy 60:24
 62:6,7
accept 64:11
 65:22
acceptable 53:8
Access 56:8,11
accessible 65:20
accidental 33:14
accommodate 16:1
accomplished
 78:13
ache 82:24
acknowledge 31:5
 37:15
acknowledgement
 36:3
Act 11:10 22:19
 45:20
activist 73:24
activities 55:23
 56:25 57:18
activity 54:8
 55:2 57:11,23
 58:4
acts 47:5
ad 12:21 13:4,5
 13:8 58:16,20
 58:22,24,25
 59:2
add 56:15 62:23
 65:16
addition 37:13
 59:18
additional 40:24
addressed 17:14
 17:15 29:19
 33:3
adjourned 84:24

adjournment
 84:18
administration
 23:1 36:25
administrative
 5:11
administrator
 23:5
ads 59:8
advantage 42:22
affiliated 58:9
afford 74:25
African-American
 69:2
afternoon 3:4
 4:15 6:8 7:5
 16:21 28:1
 31:10 43:14,15
 53:17 73:23
 77:7 81:12
 83:13
afternoon's 9:19
agenda 9:19
aggressive 40:13
 60:10
agility 17:12
 25:11,12,25
 26:14,16,20
 27:6
ago 8:2 11:23
 13:16 22:24
 27:13 31:4
 37:18 38:23
 39:3 42:21
 64:3 68:25
 69:4 70:11,25
 72:10,19 78:13
 83:25
agree 30:7
agreed 13:21
agreement 8:12
 41:16
aid 83:15
ajar 33:22
Alan 5:12
alarming 68:14
Albanian 34:5
Alexis 64:15
allegations
 28:19
alleged 28:15
 44:23

allegedly 67:10
 68:22 70:4
allowed 50:15
 74:19 83:17,22
alma 38:2
Ambika 7:23
American 31:23
Americans 22:19
amount 49:8
anniversary
 58:14
announcement
 62:17
Announcements
 73:1
announcing 12:20
annual 58:11,13
 80:12
answer 19:25
 39:24 48:4
 49:14 78:18
anybody 69:23
 72:18
anyway 34:13
Apollo 56:5
appalling 69:14
appeal 74:11
appearing 10:24
appellate 49:24
APPLAUSE 37:12
 60:8
applicant 25:2,3
 25:5
applicants 17:9
 26:22 40:24
applied 17:9
 25:17 44:11
 50:1
apply 25:21
 74:25
appointed 2:5,6
 2:7 3:18,20,22
 73:25 74:12
 76:14
appreciate 8:16
 30:24 49:5
 50:23 63:20
 66:13
approached 54:21
appropriate 27:1
 36:3
approval 10:4

approve 9:18
approximately
 11:5 37:19
Archdale 79:8
area 23:11 55:10
 74:14 75:1,16
areas 28:20 29:4
 50:10,15,16
arena 76:19
arrested 33:6
arrival 36:8
arrived 40:21
ARRIVES 11:20
 30:5
article 61:7
 62:5 68:20
 72:10,11
articles 67:13
arts 6:16 7:19
 36:25
asked 21:11 34:4
 40:4 43:25
 53:7
asking 48:21
 78:7
aspects 20:24
assaulted 70:14
assaulting 70:20
assessed 23:17
assets 11:11
assigned 26:18
 37:6,21
assistance 23:9
 24:15 36:10
 59:14,15 80:16
assistant 2:23
 4:12 5:12,25
 18:13
assisting 26:19
associate 7:15
Association 69:2
Asst 4:15,19,24
 6:2 8:22 9:10
 9:15 31:10
 34:19,23 35:15
 35:17 36:2
 37:13 39:6
 40:2 41:1 42:2
 78:25 83:1
assume 78:23
astounding 70:18
ate 82:25

attachment 35:8
attend 43:6
 59:24
attendance 5:21
 6:8 8:24 9:1
 15:12 31:7
 43:13 64:5
attention 16:8
 80:22
attorney 16:9
 76:23
attract 26:7
attribute 22:8
attrition 18:12
 18:14 20:7
audience 62:13
 73:16
August 10:4
 16:25 17:8,21
 18:3 53:18
 55:25 56:3,4,8
 61:7,8
authority 66:22
available 14:15
Avenue 57:10,22
avoid 10:21,23
award 36:12
 37:11,17
awards 41:7
aware 16:9 36:8
aye 9:25 10:1,9
 10:10 12:16,17
 66:10,11 84:22
 84:23

B

bachelor's 36:24
back 5:15 6:3,5
 17:15 24:15
 31:19 38:24
 42:10 46:14
 51:20 54:4
 61:12 62:4
 68:13 70:9
 78:5 83:16
 84:13
background 23:15
 44:4
backing 70:10
bad 33:15
badge 29:24
balance 21:3

bargaining 20:5
 21:14
basically 8:8
 10:15 43:21
 45:8 52:22
 59:6 63:17
 64:22 76:14
beautiful 50:12
 58:21,22 75:6
began 44:24
beginning 17:8
 17:18
behalf 8:19 31:9
 77:9,25 83:14
believe 11:22
 34:10 51:21
 63:4 68:1
believed 34:6,7
Bell 2:4 3:4,7
 3:13,23,24 4:4
 4:9,17,22,25
 5:20 6:7 7:21
 7:24 8:15,23
 9:13,17,23
 10:2,8,11
 11:18 12:3,18
 15:24 16:6
 19:18 24:18
 27:14,18,22
 29:11 30:22
 31:2 34:18,21
 35:16 38:25
 40:1,22 41:22
 42:2 49:6
 52:18 53:3,9
 53:13 60:9
 63:16 66:1,12
 66:17 67:1,4
 71:14 72:9,25
 75:15,19,24
 76:1,14,23
 77:1,5 78:23
 80:2 81:2,21
 81:24 82:9
 83:2,11 84:11
 84:16,21,24
Belle 49:12
 50:18,25 51:3
belong 52:8
belonged 49:1
belongs 46:21
 47:2,3 51:9

beneficial 48:9
benefits 63:6
Bernard 16:10
best 24:9 31:14
 33:4 47:13
 55:18,19
better 49:2
Bettison 31:6
 45:23
beyond 79:6
big 12:23 37:25
 38:1 43:2
 47:24
biggest 58:12
Bill 32:12
binder 16:24
Bing 54:11,13
Bishop 2:8 43:9
 77:8
bit 18:14 44:1
 51:7 56:15
 75:9
blast 14:11,12
 14:13,13
block 42:16,21
 48:18
blue 38:20
board 1:9 3:5
 5:4,6,16 8:17
 8:20 10:16,20
 12:5 13:6,18
 16:11 39:22
 58:8 65:9,14
 66:18 71:3,6
 83:24
book 58:17 59:1
 68:11
books 59:3
bootleg 75:11
bottom 14:14
Boy 15:9
BP 56:1
break 76:15
breakdown 68:21
Brenda 76:15
 80:4
bridge 80:20
Bridget 22:23
brief 81:14
bring 7:1 16:8
 68:22 70:23
 80:13

bringing 58:6
 80:21
broaden 7:12,17
Brooks 2:6 3:21
 3:22 13:3
 43:10 49:7
 50:22 51:2
 53:16 56:16
 59:19 60:2
 61:5 62:12
brother 77:9
 78:6
brother's 79:4,5
brought 72:11
Brown 5:11 14:4
 15:24 81:15
building 52:24
 55:2
buildings 43:22
 45:14,16 46:14
 47:10,17,25
 48:16,18 74:2
 74:15 75:18
bull 60:11
bulletproof
 33:24
burned 79:6
Burton 2:10 30:5
 31:3
business 6:18
 10:21 35:2,5
 36:24,25 44:11
 45:4,17,19
 46:7,8 47:4
 50:2,4 52:5,6
 54:8 67:5 73:1
 81:11 82:2
 83:20 84:4,7,8
 84:17
businesses 74:20
 74:22
busy 32:10 79:24
Butler 73:23,24
 75:23 76:20
 77:3
butt 31:17
bylaws 13:7
BYT 54:11

C

calendar 11:8
 57:13 58:3

71:2
calendars 56:22
 56:22 57:2
call 3:7 47:16
 47:17 78:5
called 18:21
 27:12 62:15
 84:9
campuses 55:5
cancel 11:3
cancellation
 11:14 12:10
cancelling 11:6
candidate 40:20
candidates 26:7
 35:20 55:24
 56:1,2,4,5,6,8
 58:6
capacity 59:6
Capt 6:4 53:21
 54:25 80:15
car 30:13 74:5,5
 75:3
card 35:10
care 78:3
career 54:18,23
 63:5
caregiver 46:23
 52:2,9,10,25
caregivers 51:15
carjackings
 32:23
carries 10:3,12
 12:19 66:13
Carter 2:11
 11:20 12:8,9
 13:3 25:8,12
 25:15,19 26:12
 27:3,12,16
 65:4
case 80:14
cases 28:3,3,5
 28:12,13,13,19
 28:24 29:5
 45:11 69:17
 71:12 77:11
 78:3
catch 34:10
categories 18:17
categorizing
 19:22 20:2,4,5
category 21:24

24:22
caused 33:23
cease 49:17
celebrating
 58:13
celebrity 32:5
Celia 9:11,16
Center 57:9,10
 57:11,19,24
 58:1 60:15
centers 54:8
century 66:6
certain 19:25
 22:8 34:2 50:9
certainly 36:18
certificate
 46:18,19 86:1
CERTIFY 86:8
Chair 3:6 4:7
 5:7 6:20 9:21
 10:13 11:13,16
 11:21 12:7,11
 15:13 19:19
 21:22 24:20
 25:9 29:13
 48:6 51:6 53:5
 62:22 63:24
 64:4 66:19
 67:7 75:8 77:7
 79:4 84:17
Chairman 82:9
Chairperson 2:4
 65:3
challenge 38:3
Chambers 6:4
chance 26:24
 41:6 61:11,23
charge 25:2,4,11
 25:14 67:18
charged 67:9
charges 68:23
charging 25:1
charter 11:5,9
 11:25 12:13,23
 13:7
check 50:20
Chene 62:23
chief 2:21,23
 4:12,13,15,19
 4:24 5:16,18
 5:25 6:2 8:22
 9:8,10,15

14:19 24:6
 27:23,25 28:2
 29:14,17 30:17
 30:23,25 31:9
 31:10 34:19,23
 35:15,17 36:2
 37:13 39:6
 40:2,15 41:1
 42:2,3 43:16
 63:25 64:17,24
 65:12 66:4,15
 76:2 78:25
 81:7,13 83:1
chief's 4:16,17
 36:8,12 37:10
chimed 40:19
chose 68:22
church 56:3
churches 54:8
 58:10
Circuit 45:7
circulate 61:12
circumstances
 35:4
citizen 11:10,11
 62:5,6 64:3
citizen's 40:9
citizens 33:3
 45:10 47:15,21
 51:2 65:20
 71:22
city 6:10 10:17
 23:5 34:7,12
 42:6,24,25
 43:12,17,20
 44:12,24 46:5
 46:13 47:6,15
 50:1,7,12 52:5
 57:7,9 75:10
 83:23 84:6
civil 45:6,7
civilian 17:4
 18:2,17 21:12
 22:23
civilians 17:2
 17:21 18:4,12
clarify 53:6
clarity 84:15
class 17:22
 60:24
clear 42:5 51:7
 51:25 66:24

clinics 23:2
Clinton 32:13
close 13:1 49:8
 49:16 51:3,8
 81:6
close-knit 33:18
closed 28:13,24
 29:5 45:3 46:1
 75:4 77:11
 79:10 80:14
closely 79:25
closing 28:4
 74:21
closure 78:18,22
code 45:21 75:12
cohort 7:9,11
 8:5
cohorts 38:17
Coleman 62:15
College 6:16
 7:19 36:24
 55:4
colleges 54:8
collision 75:11
colors 42:4
 46:15
come 5:17 6:13
 15:2 23:8
 24:16 28:8
 32:6 34:9
 35:23,24,25
 36:5,7 43:25
 45:1 62:20
 63:25 71:3,6
 73:19 78:18
 81:2 83:12
coming 8:16
 14:24 36:15,19
 42:10 55:22
 62:2 64:24
 73:10,18 78:17
 79:18
Comm 31:6,6
 45:23
command 36:13,14
commence 18:8
commend 22:5
commendable
 22:10
comment 48:7
 70:9
comments 12:5

30:22 34:22
67:14 68:2
82:3
commission 16:9
41:24 68:18
72:12 76:5
79:16,18 83:8
commissioner 2:5
2:6,8,9,10,11
3:4,10,13,14
3:16,17,17,19
3:19,21,21,23
3:24,25,25 4:2
4:2,4,9,17,22
4:25 5:20 6:7
7:21,24 8:15
8:23 9:13,17
9:20,22,23
10:2,6,7,8,11
11:15,17,18,20
11:21 12:3,9
12:18 13:2,3,3
15:13,24 16:4
16:6 19:18,19
21:21,22 22:3
23:16,24 24:18
24:19,25 25:6
25:8,12,15,19
26:12 27:3,10
27:12,14,14,16
27:18,22 29:11
29:12 30:5,6
30:20,22 31:2
31:3,15 34:18
34:21 35:16
38:25 40:1,22
40:23 41:5,20
41:22 42:2
43:10 48:6
49:6,7 50:22
51:2,6,12,23
52:14,18,20
53:3,5,9,12,13
53:16,18 56:14
56:16 59:19,23
60:2,9 61:5
62:12,22 63:16
63:17,23 64:4
65:3,4,15,25
66:1,3,12,14
66:17 67:1,2,4
67:6 71:14,15

72:8,9,25 75:8
75:15,18,19,24
77:1,5 78:23
79:3,12 80:2
80:18 81:2,21
81:24 83:2,5
83:10,11 84:11
84:16,19,20,21
84:24
commissioners
1:9 2:1 3:6,15
4:5 5:6 8:20
10:1,10 12:17
14:10 15:6
16:11,15,22
19:18 24:18
29:10,11 30:8
49:6 50:24
52:18 54:2
60:10,12 61:13
66:11 73:25
81:13 84:23
commitment 42:24
committed 39:19
60:16
committee 12:22
12:25 13:4,5,8
13:9,11,17
53:14,25 63:24
64:3,4 66:17
committeepersons
13:21
committing 47:5
common 19:1
communicate 49:3
78:8,9
communicated
16:15
communication
23:6 73:16
77:15 78:19
80:21
communities 43:5
48:10 49:4
55:17 74:6
community 13:24
14:8,17,22
15:16 16:3
29:24 30:12
33:17,18,20
34:7,9,13,25
35:5,6,12 40:8

47:19 48:17
54:3,4 55:2,4
56:5 63:3,19
72:16,23 73:6
73:11,13,24
74:7 75:2,4,5
75:6 77:24
78:2
company 56:12
84:9
compelling 63:2
compete 42:9
competing 61:18
compiled 21:15
compiling 19:4
complainants
29:22
complaint 30:10
30:14 40:10
64:3
complaints 28:7
28:16 29:16
complete 20:21
86:13
completed 37:7
39:9
completion 40:15
complex 21:6
Compliance 74:17
74:21 75:1
complicated
20:22
complimentary
58:24
comprehensive
21:6
computer 86:11
concern 28:20
29:4,14,18
52:21 76:19
concerned 24:2
43:5,9,11
69:20,22 75:9
80:10 82:18,23
concerns 15:3
16:18 27:19
67:12 68:10
69:3 73:14
concluded 85:1
concludes 19:16
29:9
condolence 35:10

79:16
condolences
34:24 79:13
conduct 10:20
82:2
conducted 18:20
conducting 35:2
coney 31:23
33:10,13,21
coney 31:25
32:7,9
conference 10:18
conferences
77:20
confiscate 47:1
congratulating
37:9
congregation
15:15 16:3
connected 11:2
Connor 57:20
cons 71:25
consent 68:12,14
considering 65:8
constructive
52:10
contact 9:5
75:20 80:3
contacting 13:10
continually
51:20
continued 44:15
contract 52:12
contractor 11:1
conversation
71:1 83:6
convey 79:17
convicted 70:19
convince 18:25
convoluted 52:15
coordinate 53:10
56:22,22 57:2
71:3
copy 10:14 12:2
12:4,5,11 66:5
correct 25:14
51:11 66:23
86:13
correctly 70:4
cost 25:22,23
69:24
costs 26:11

Council 9:6
75:21
councilperson
76:10,11
count 32:14
counted 73:25
country 61:16
67:24
County 55:4
67:15 68:15
69:21 70:10
86:6
couple 9:7 11:23
13:15 39:20
42:20 56:17
60:25 67:12
course 11:8
42:15 63:6
68:20
court 45:6,7,15
69:14
courtroom 69:15
69:15,25 81:25
82:6
courtrooms 82:12
courts 70:4
cover 68:20
Craig 4:14 31:9
42:3 81:7,18
82:17
cramp 38:5
Crawford 2:9
3:25 4:1 10:6
11:17,21 24:19
24:25 25:6
27:10,15 29:12
30:6,20 63:23
65:15 66:4,14
67:2,6 71:15
72:8 79:3,12
80:18 83:5,10
84:20
crime 32:16
36:22 77:14,20
78:15
criminal 6:20
7:2 43:16
criteria 12:14
critical 11:11
23:7 24:9
crossed 71:13
crucial 60:21

61:4
crying 33:20
CSR-0087 86:19
currently 17:1,6
18:6 19:4
36:21,22 37:4
37:6,21
Cushingberry's
9:4
cut 40:18

D

DAAPA 69:1
Dale 5:14 86:18
Dana 36:7 37:20
data 64:8,12,20
64:21 65:7,19
65:24 66:3
David 76:1,14,23
Davis-Drake
27:23,25 28:1
29:17 30:17,25
64:17 66:15
Dawn 35:22 37:2
day 32:12 67:7
79:11,11 81:19
daycare 50:12
days 28:5
DC 9:13,15 53:9
76:14
dead 39:17
deal 42:18 72:1
dean 6:16,17 7:5
7:14,18,23,25
7:25 8:21
38:11,21 39:1
41:8
death 33:24
December 77:10
79:7
decent 82:20
decently 82:21
decide 54:23
decided 41:9
56:21
decision 72:4,5
declare 45:7
decor 46:15
decrease 28:10
decree 68:12,14
deeply 79:14
defer 7:4

definitely 12:4
50:20 51:4
71:18
degreed 22:25
demeanor 28:21
29:6 69:15
demise 35:3
democracy 11:12
department 4:13
6:21,23 7:1,2
7:8 11:2 20:7
20:15 21:18,18
22:2 25:17,21
35:19 36:9,21
37:4,18,21
38:14 39:15
40:6 43:19,22
43:23,23 44:19
44:20 45:5,14
46:6 47:11,17
53:20 55:10
58:16,25 60:23
61:20 62:19,20
65:18 66:7
69:13,18,19,24
71:9 76:6
77:16 78:20
81:4
deputy 9:8 14:22
43:16 76:2
Derrick 2:5 3:20
Deseco 36:6
37:15,17
deserve 78:21
designed 12:25
desire 13:10
desperate 75:3
despicable 68:1
68:2
destroying 74:6
75:5
detective 77:16
78:4,12,21
determine 21:13
Detroit 1:9,17
1:19 3:1 4:12
6:10,20 7:8
18:4,5 22:2
23:5 26:9
31:24,24 34:8
36:24 38:14
39:15 42:24,25

43:12,18,22
44:12,20 45:10
45:22 46:5
47:15 50:2
52:5 56:7,9,11
57:8,9 58:16
59:10,11 62:2
62:20 64:8,13
64:21,22 65:24
66:3 67:10,13
69:1,12 77:15
80:6 83:24
development 6:25
57:6 59:5
Dewaelsche 2:7
3:16,17,18
19:19 21:21
40:23 41:5,20
43:10 48:6
53:5,12,19
56:14 59:23
65:25
Dewaelsche's
52:20
DFD 31:13,20
dialog 15:1
60:22
Diaz 68:4
Diaz's 70:9
different 57:1
58:9,10 73:2
74:20
diligence 72:5
directed 76:23
directing 76:20
direction 65:10
76:4,9
director 5:9
16:21,22 19:20
20:3 21:23
22:11 23:22
24:4,20,24
25:4,10,13,18
25:23 26:17
27:8,19,21
45:17 74:15
75:25 76:13
Disabilities
22:19
disability 19:10
19:14,14
discharge 33:14

discipline 40:7
discussing 12:9
discussion 9:24
 10:9 11:19
 12:6 13:14
 66:9 73:9
dispensaries
 43:25 44:8,23
 45:8,12 46:1
 47:8 49:9,15
 49:18 50:15
dispensary 43:3
 49:11 50:9,10
 50:11 51:14,15
 51:18,21
disqualified
 26:4
Dist 2:8,9,10,11
Dist.4 2:4
distinguished
 8:18
distribute 15:15
 59:3
distribution
 14:2 81:16
District 4:1,3
Divers 9:3 75:20
DMC 14:25
doctor 14:24
dogs 82:25
doing 6:18 14:11
 14:12,12,13
 20:19 27:8
 32:3,8 33:4
 34:3 54:5,24
 56:13 59:25
 60:5,21,23
 67:24 74:16
 84:4
Dolunt 2:23 4:13
 4:15,19,24 6:2
 8:22 9:7,10,15
 31:9,10 34:19
 34:23 35:15,17
 41:25 42:3
 78:23,25 80:9
 80:16 83:1
Donald 32:12
door 33:22,25
dormant 78:11
dotted 71:13
downtown 74:17

82:12
DPD 6:1,6,7 8:18
 9:8 18:23,24
 31:13 42:15
 71:18 73:13
DPOA 20:17 67:16
 67:22
Dr 9:3 38:7,7
 75:20
Drake 29:14
 30:23 63:25
dramatically
 22:4
drawn-out 79:8
Driven 64:8,12
 64:20,22 65:24
 66:3
driving 47:25
drop 60:15
dropoff 17:12
dropped 18:14
drug-free 50:7
due 72:4
duty 19:13 21:25
 22:16
Dyke 56:8

E

E 2:10 31:3
 86:18
e-mail 14:13
 15:4 68:17,18
earlier 44:6
early 20:18
east 42:16,22
 49:11 54:7
 55:24 56:3
 57:19 60:12
Eastland 56:4
eat 31:25 32:6,9
eaters 32:2
eating 26:23
Edgar 2:8 3:10
 4:2
educate 30:8,12
 78:20
educated 23:11
education 6:25
 36:9 56:24
educational
 42:13,15 72:15
effect 24:14

effort 36:4
 43:21
efforts 63:19,21
 66:2,6 80:12
eight-page 68:16
 68:21
either 28:4
 56:24 74:25
elaborate 20:20
elected 18:22
elements 11:12
 65:7,7
Elizabeth 2:6
 3:22
Ellis 77:7,8
 79:5,6,19
 80:23 81:10
embarrass 82:15
embarrassed
 82:19
embarrassing
 81:19
embezzled 84:3
embezzling 84:2
emotional 24:3
 35:7
employee 22:24
employees 18:23
 18:24 19:6
 21:11,19 22:20
employment 16:10
 20:25
enacted 50:8
encourage 21:1
 24:23 47:14
encouraging
 42:23
ended 19:4
ends 46:9
enforce 43:23
 72:21
enforcement 43:3
 43:8,17 52:23
 75:13,17
engage 13:13
 14:6
engaged 76:16
engagement 73:12
engaging 14:19
 22:20 61:3,14
 76:5
Engel 6:3 35:22

37:3
English 42:17,22
enhance 6:25
 63:20
enhanced 63:12
entertain 9:18
 11:13 73:9
 84:18
entire 12:5 35:5
 79:15
entitled 72:10
entries 64:8
especially 22:2
essay 40:14
established 23:3
 69:4
establishments
 75:14
estimation 82:16
Eva 2:7 3:16,18
 56:12
Eva's 56:12
evaluated 40:17
evaluation 16:12
evening 9:2
evenings 17:18
event 58:12,13
 62:23 63:14
events 57:4
 58:24 60:14
everybody 38:12
evident 40:9
 65:13
examination
 17:16,17 26:20
example 50:10
Excel 64:21
excellent 38:18
 74:16
excited 7:8,13
 35:22
excuse 60:14
 81:20
exercise 26:23
exonerated 29:1
expand 41:17
expanding 38:15
expected 10:17
 15:21
expedite 73:20
expense 10:23
 11:2

expenses 26:9
experience 7:1
 23:1,13
experienced 24:8
 24:10
expertise 23:12
explain 19:21
 71:9
expound 64:1
 68:24
express 35:14
 79:15
expresses 79:16
extending 39:14
extension 8:11
extensively 66:8
extremely 8:12
 24:6 33:16
 43:20 48:9
eye 23:11 61:9
eye-opener 52:23
eyesore 48:16

F

Facebook 14:12
facilitating
 26:19
facility 15:8,10
 15:11
fact 22:5 36:13
 36:18 57:5
 65:3 69:25
fail 26:4,16
failed 26:14
 27:4
Fair 56:5,7
fairly 19:1
fairs 54:9
fall 18:7,9
familiar 66:5
 70:3 80:9
families 77:25
 78:10 79:10
 80:25
family 34:25
 35:9,13 42:19
 42:23 77:25
 79:14,17,18,22
fantastic 15:8
 48:23 58:21
 61:19
far 3:16 9:9

41:23 74:21
 76:5 82:18,23
fashion 12:1
favor 9:24 10:9
 12:16 66:10
 84:22
Fazia 73:24
federal 50:8
federally 68:5
feedback 14:18
 21:17 44:13
 65:9
feel 13:19 20:6
 35:7 77:23,24
 82:19
felt 51:2
festival 32:11
fiber 35:6
field 47:21
file 30:10,14
 45:6
filed 28:13
 45:12
fill 37:25
filled 17:1
 28:12
final 72:5
find 33:7 54:14
 81:23
findings 28:25
fine 23:3
fines 84:1
finest 62:19
fingers 38:5
finish 82:10
Fire 31:24
first 5:7 6:19
 7:9 10:15 22:2
 27:5 31:12
 38:17,17 39:2
 41:1,3 44:24
 48:11 49:15
 54:2 64:14
 65:14 80:3
fiscal 17:7
five 18:12 31:25
 41:4 47:9
 52:23 56:8
 73:25 77:19
floated 64:2
fluctuates 29:18
 30:18

flush 15:7
flyer 63:1
flyers 14:15
 15:14 59:8
 73:5 78:7
focus 19:2
focused 47:8
folk 19:14
followers 15:18
following 28:25
follows 28:7,16
 28:21 29:5
force 37:22 45:6
Ford 74:14
foregoing 86:9
foremost 64:14
forget 53:21
forgot 60:3
form 12:1
formation 12:21
formatted 15:16
formed 45:5
former 14:19
 65:3,3
forth 21:4 49:19
 86:10
forthcoming 73:8
forum 13:24 14:2
 14:3 76:17
 80:8,9
forward 7:10
 13:11 15:1,11
 18:11 20:14
 38:13,15,19
 42:10 63:21
 71:23 72:6,7
 73:18 83:12
found 35:20
 40:10 68:6
foundation 12:21
four 8:10 41:4
 41:11,11 56:1
 67:9 78:13,14
four-year 8:11
fourth 16:7
Frank 70:1
free 13:19 26:8
 39:10 67:14
 72:13
friends 79:22
front 5:10 16:24
 67:20 73:19

75:11 83:24
full 17:15 50:13
 77:18 86:12
fundraiser 58:12
further 7:12
 38:16
future 7:16
 65:23

G

Gail 5:8,9 6:4,4
 16:20,22 27:19
 60:5
games 31:14,16
gap 80:20
gaps 13:1
Gardner 53:19
 58:19
Garza 2:7 3:18
gas 56:1
gentleman 83:20
George 9:4
getting 18:7
 19:15 23:14
 25:20 30:13
 43:7 54:22
give 12:4 26:24
 27:2 36:2
 37:25 38:10
 44:3 53:17
 58:25 61:11
 73:17 76:9
 78:18 80:16
given 3:12 34:5
 34:12
giving 21:17
 35:18 65:9
 66:22
glad 9:5 48:13
 48:23 71:2
glass 33:24
go 5:15 13:11
 15:1 18:22
 26:25 27:18
 29:22,23 31:11
 38:19 39:17,18
 42:4 47:1
 51:20 54:4
 61:6 65:10
 68:11,13 71:23
 74:19 75:10
 81:14

goes 72:6
going 3:7, 9, 14
 4:10, 20 5:24
 5:24 7:18 8:17
 13:13 14:19, 20
 17:24 21:5
 34:15, 16 38:3
 38:4, 9 39:10
 39:20 40:13
 43:3 44:5
 45:15 47:23
 49:8 50:4
 54:16, 19 55:23
 56:11, 15 57:14
 57:17, 21, 24
 58:2, 3, 4, 5, 8
 58:20 59:1, 3
 59:10, 20 60:6
 60:25 61:11
 62:4, 9 63:25
 64:10 68:17
 71:7, 25 78:25
 82:14, 16, 21
gold 42:5
Gonzales 53:21
good 3:4 4:15
 5:1, 2, 22 7:5
 9:17 15:19
 16:21 18:15
 20:6 27:25
 31:10, 20, 21
 35:20 40:6, 8
 40:20 43:14, 15
 53:17 54:5
 62:3 73:23
 77:7 81:12
 83:13
GPA 36:25 37:8
Grad 39:7
grads 38:2 42:10
graduate 6:17
 7:14 8:3 37:19
 41:13
graduated 39:8
granted 50:5, 16
grants 74:25
great 15:10, 10
 21:23 39:21
 41:18, 21 53:25
 62:10 72:1
green 38:20 42:4
 46:13 48:18

green-painted
 48:16
Greg 40:16
Gregory 2:3 5:5
grieving 78:1
ground 70:25
group 54:14 55:1
 56:18 68:25
 80:5
groups 55:3 57:1
 58:9
grow 24:15
growing 51:16
guess 23:18, 23
 38:22 67:8
guilty 68:6
guy 84:3
guys 35:23 44:3

H

habits 26:23
half 29:15 73:22
Hall 70:1
hand 38:1
happen 30:14
happened 77:4
happening 35:8
 35:13
happens 26:2
 51:24, 25 76:25
happy 4:25 21:10
 21:16 39:24
 47:22 48:4
 72:3 77:22
harassment 28:23
hard 32:20 35:19
Hard-working
 37:5
harming 45:9
head 15:25 16:1
 50:19 75:21
headquarters
 1:17 54:12
health 24:3 45:9
 45:21
healthcare 22:25
hear 8:17 13:12
 27:22 48:13, 23
 62:1 71:18, 21
 77:23
heard 4:22 34:2
 34:23 77:19

hearing 65:13
heart 42:6 55:1
 55:17
heavy 32:5
help 14:3 19:13
 21:3 22:17
 26:15 34:10
 59:5 73:20
 74:1, 13 76:17
 78:8, 17 80:18
 80:23 84:6, 6, 6
helped 74:21
helpful 45:23
 48:9 53:11
 59:13, 16
helping 44:21
 65:5 75:1
hereinbefore
 86:10
heroes 67:20
 70:10
hey 37:15
Hi 37:16
Hicks 2:3 4:7
 5:5, 7 15:25
 66:18, 19 71:4
 84:12
high 20:10 54:7
higher 7:4 22:4
highlighted 73:2
hired 17:21 18:2
 18:3 26:3
hires 17:20 18:5
hissself 84:6
historical 70:23
historically
 22:1
history 68:3, 9
hitters 32:5
hoc 12:21 13:4, 5
 13:8
Hold 72:13
Hollowell 43:19
Holly 53:20
homes 74:23
homicide 33:10
 80:14
homicides 32:16
hope 14:9 41:17
 53:21 54:25
 82:23
hopefully 34:9

41:13
hoping 32:2 58:5
 74:13 77:10
horn 60:18 61:25
horns 60:11
 63:13
hot 82:24
hour 73:21
house 65:17 79:7
housing 42:18, 22
Howard 35:21
 36:19
Howe 58:18
Howell 76:23
HR 16:17
huge 26:13 62:23
Human 23:13
hurting 78:1
 79:10 80:25
hurts 35:4

I

i's 71:12
I-94 57:20
idea 58:2 78:21
ideas 56:17
identify 49:19
 76:12
Ike 14:20
illegal 46:11, 20
 47:5, 7 49:18
 52:4
illegality 51:24
illegally 43:24
 44:7, 15 49:17
imagine 19:24
immediate 12:7
immigrant 34:6
impacts 43:11
implement 64:11
 71:8
implemented
 22:17
important 6:18
 14:16 44:19
 46:2 55:21
 72:14, 21
impressed 60:24
improper 82:1
improve 58:6
improvement
 48:11

incident 83:7
incidents 24:9
include 58:20
including 10:24
inconvenience
 10:22
increased 24:1
increases 63:7
increasing 7:6
Indiana 77:9
 79:20
Indianapolis
 77:8 79:20
indicated 56:16
indicted 68:5
individual 33:12
 34:3,10
individuals 16:2
 26:15 67:9
 68:23
information 14:2
 14:7 17:5,25
 18:24 19:5
 20:6 21:5,9,15
 21:19 29:25
 30:3,9 49:5
 50:21 59:13,16
 62:25 64:9,20
 64:23 81:9
 84:13
informed 53:1
informing 13:6
initiate 72:6
initiatives
 29:21
inning 31:19
input 13:9
inside 46:4,20
 52:8
inspectors 45:25
 46:10
inspiring 38:23
Institute 54:11
instrumental
 44:21 65:4
intent 26:6
interact 76:11
 78:24 79:1
 80:8 81:3
interaction
 35:11
interactions

81:4
interactive
 22:20
interested 40:4
 60:5 62:16
interesting
 23:25
intern 66:8
internship 18:7
interview 18:23
interviews 18:21
introduce 3:15
 4:10 5:5,8,25
 6:12 38:6
INTRODUCED 5:19
introduces 5:18
introduction
 4:11
INV 27:25 29:17
 30:17,25 64:17
 66:15
investigations
 28:12
investigator
 5:16,21 27:23
 28:2 30:23
 64:25 65:12
 66:4
invite 78:1
 80:25
invited 38:23
invocation 3:10
 3:12
involved 28:14
 28:15,19,25
 43:20 68:8
 70:25
involvement 53:4
 61:2,3
island 31:23
 33:10,13,21
Isle 49:12 50:18
 50:25 51:3
issue 12:23
 13:18 43:4
 67:7 70:3,8,12
 70:16 71:20
 75:9
issues 13:5 15:6
 17:13,14 23:2
issuing 46:17,18
item 10:3,13,15

12:6,20 13:22
 14:16 16:8,16
 31:8 43:2
 73:15

J

jacked 38:8
James 31:5
jazz 32:11
Jefferson 49:12
 51:1
job 19:23 20:1
 54:9 56:7
 74:16
John's 14:25
join 13:4 37:9
 41:23 61:20
joined 31:4
 45:24
joining 12:8
Jones 76:15
judge 69:9,11
 81:18,24,25
 82:1,4,5,7
judges 82:18
July 28:6,9,11
 28:13,25 56:10
 72:11
June 83:18
jurisdiction
 46:6,9,11 52:7
justice 6:21 7:2
 55:9 65:18
 66:7 70:1

K

keep 18:10 20:19
 39:19 52:21
 75:2 79:9
 83:23
keeping 11:9
 74:24
Kenneth 83:14
Kenny 69:11
kept 33:22,25
kick 24:5
kicked 31:16
kid 84:5
kill 33:7,14
 67:10 72:17,18
kind 19:12 20:2
 20:5,7,8 21:20

22:18 23:25
 32:13 46:23
 57:14 70:2
 75:14 78:18
knew 33:21 44:9
knock 39:17
know 14:21 15:14
 20:8 22:25
 23:22,25 25:16
 25:19 26:3,5
 29:20 32:1
 33:19 38:1,9
 38:18 39:22
 42:7 43:9 44:6
 44:15 47:15,18
 48:19 49:22
 50:12 54:16,17
 55:11 57:3
 58:10 61:15,24
 62:13,18 65:9
 68:3,4,8 70:5
 71:21 74:9
 76:7,12 78:3,4
 78:8,11,16,19
 78:21 79:15,23
 81:18 82:13,17
 83:19,22
knowing 47:2
 84:5
knowledge 82:8
known 28:15
knows 31:15
Kym 69:8,9

L

Labor 32:12
lack 10:21 69:16
lady 42:20 66:8
 78:24
laid 78:11
Lamar 22:23
lapels 30:4
larger 48:12
late 84:2
law 22:18 43:18
 44:18 45:5
 50:8,9 52:17
leader 22:22
leaders 36:15,19
leadership 23:7
 61:1
leading 28:16,20

29:4
leads 61:4
learned 48:15, 24
Leath 36:7 37:20
leave 18:16, 25
 20:9, 11 21:2
 21:25
left 51:8 82:21
legal 16:13
 49:25
lessen 22:15
let's 6:13 23:20
 34:22 37:25
lethal 13:25
letter 44:14
letters 44:7
 74:3, 10, 18, 19
letting 65:9
level 22:7 70:25
 73:12
levels 23:25
liable 47:6
liaison 77:21
Liberal 6:16
 7:19
license 44:11
 45:19 46:8
 50:2, 5, 17 52:6
 83:16
licenses 74:23
lieutenants'
 36:22 37:5
life 34:11 43:12
 43:17 72:22
lift 35:9
lighter 31:11, 11
 31:12
liked 21:7
limit 27:1
Linda 16:9 77:8
line 14:14 67:20
lines 23:6
Lions 32:10
Lisa 2:11 12:7
list 36:22 37:5
listed 17:11
listening 77:22
litigation 45:6
little 5:1 12:12
 18:14 44:1
 52:14 56:15
 63:18 81:16

84:5
live 44:16 48:17
 75:5
living 42:25
local 80:8
located 84:8
location 15:10
 50:18 73:7
long 11:22, 24
 35:3, 3 48:3
 79:8 82:11
long-term 19:14
look 12:25 20:14
 47:18 51:5
 59:14 63:5
looking 7:10
 15:11 23:8, 10
 33:13 38:13, 15
 38:18 42:10
 55:15, 15, 16
 72:7
looks 46:15
loop 52:21
Lord 77:14
lose 34:11
loss 35:12 79:14
lost 61:17
lot 14:1 15:18
 23:12 32:9
 48:17 56:13
 61:17, 17 63:8
 74:5, 22, 23
 79:21, 24
lots 60:6
Lou 37:16
Louis 79:6
loved 42:8
Low 53:20
lower 18:9
LR 19:12
Lt 36:6 37:15, 15
 37:17 53:19
 58:18
Lunch 54:12
luncheon 59:20
 59:22, 25

M

ma'am 24:20 25:7
 25:13 30:6, 20
 65:15 75:22, 25
 77:2, 6 79:4, 12

80:2 81:3
maintain 52:11
maintained 52:9
maintaining
 46:23 51:15
majority 10:16
making 5:9 32:24
mall 55:24 56:4
man 4:10 62:14
 62:16 83:12
management 23:4
mandate 12:24
mandates 11:5
manner 23:18
marijuana 43:2
 43:24 44:8, 23
 45:7, 20 46:3
 46:20, 22 47:2
 49:9 51:8, 9, 16
 52:1, 25
Marino 6:5
Mark 68:4 70:9
market 42:22
 56:5
marketing 63:20
Marvin 6:19
master 22:25
match 31:22
 46:15
mater 38:2
Mathur 7:5, 23, 23
 8:1 38:7, 11
matter 65:2, 8
 69:24
Matthews 40:16
Mayor 14:22
 55:11 74:1, 13
 74:19 76:13, 22
Mayor's 75:25
McKinnon 14:20
MCOLLES 17:10, 16
 25:1 27:13
mean 13:7 19:24
 21:18, 18 26:13
 58:18
meaning 26:1
 40:7
meaningful 73:11
means 45:9 48:1
media 5:12 10:25
 14:11 15:17, 18
 33:16 62:3

67:8 72:22
medical 14:24
 22:22 23:20
 43:24 44:8
 45:20
medical-related
 23:2
medicine 46:25
 51:19
meet 56:18
meeting 1:11 3:5
 3:7 9:19 10:15
 10:23, 24 11:4
 11:7, 14 12:10
 12:14 14:4, 8
 14:10 43:6
 57:12 72:20
 73:3, 6 76:3
 79:2 83:6
 84:12
meetings 5:23
 11:6, 7, 8, 10, 11
 11:23 19:11
 54:3 60:20
 65:19 81:6
Megan 43:15
Melvin 43:19
member 5:19
 13:18
members 13:2, 11
 13:17 20:17
 24:14 33:20
 79:18
Memphis 61:15, 18
men 60:7
mention 5:15
 66:20
mentioned 39:8
message 72:14
met 22:24 42:19
 53:21, 23
method 47:10
Metro 56:7 58:11
mic 6:13
Michigan 1:19
 3:1 37:8, 20
 38:2 45:20
 52:13, 16 57:10
 57:22, 22 86:4
mid 65:2
middle 55:5
Mike 37:15

mile 74:8 84:8
mind 6:14 79:9
minimal 40:12
minutes 10:4
 31:4,25 32:6
 38:23 52:24
 73:17 77:12
mock 69:25
Molendez 68:9
moment 64:1
 76:24
Monday 17:23
 61:8
money 34:4 84:3
 84:3
month 17:20 18:3
 18:14 19:6
 27:1 28:8,24
 44:11 54:3
 55:14 83:25
monthly 29:9
 66:23,25
months 13:16
 78:14
morning 33:9
mothers 80:5,10
motion 9:18 10:3
 10:12 11:13
 12:19 64:10
 65:22 66:13
 84:18
move 16:17 18:11
 63:21
moved 9:20,24
 10:6,8 11:15
 11:19 42:17,18
 42:20 66:2
 75:6 84:19,21
moving 12:24
 67:5 73:21
murdered 77:10
 78:6 79:7
Murphy 70:1
Muslimani 43:14
 43:16 49:14
 50:25 51:4,11
 51:13 52:2,16
 53:2

N

NACOLE 10:18
name 6:19 7:22

43:15 73:17,23
 77:8 79:4,5
 80:3,4,19 81:8
 83:13
names 30:3 38:8
Nate 74:14
national 80:8
nature 22:14
 71:11
near 57:20
necessarily
 51:14 63:4
necessary 30:14
 49:20
need 60:22 61:14
 63:13 74:1
 76:11 83:5
 84:15
needed 17:14
 70:7
needs 4:11
neighborhoods
 44:16 46:16
 54:6
networks 15:18
never 4:22 15:9
 77:18 84:3
new 6:20 8:4
 12:21 17:20
 18:3,5 20:1
 41:9 45:13
 48:15,24 49:1
 55:13 61:6,8,9
 67:5
news 79:6
night 15:7
nine 78:14
nodding 15:25,25
non-fatal 32:17
non-profit 57:1
Northwest 57:10
 57:23
notably 67:13
note 13:22 16:7
notification
 11:10
notions 63:9
nuisance 45:8
number 17:25
 18:10 19:23
 20:10 22:14,16
 28:7,10 29:18

30:13,18 36:21
 41:6 44:24
 45:1,4 46:5
 48:11 49:9,10
 49:11,14,15,16
 49:21 50:18
 70:18 77:17
numbers 17:11
 18:16 22:3,5
 29:25 44:4
 58:6

O

o'clock 14:9
Obama 65:18 66:7
obtain 30:9
obvious 75:12
occasions 29:20
 73:2
occupancy 46:19
occur 10:23
occurred 68:6
 83:8
occurs 20:12
OCI 5:19 27:24
 28:8 64:9
October 54:10
 55:6 58:1,14
 71:2,5,19 73:6
offer 79:13
offered 58:15
 63:10,11
offering 17:17
 26:8 61:19
offhand 23:23
office 2:21 9:4
 57:3 62:15
 64:24 65:12
 72:2 75:25
officer 6:5
 26:10 30:11
 40:15 42:17,20
 53:20 58:18
 68:9 69:12
 72:23 82:1
officers 17:22
 17:22 19:22,25
 24:1,2,8 26:18
 26:21 28:14
 29:15 30:2,16
 32:20 33:2
 36:13,14 53:19

54:19 61:10,18
 61:22 67:11
 70:15,17,21
 71:21 72:17,18
 79:21 82:16
oh 4:17 6:4 9:10
 12:3 31:8
 34:15 53:21
 78:25 81:20
 83:9
Okay 6:2 16:6
 35:17 51:4
 76:20 77:5
 79:19
old 73:1
older 83:19
once 3:23 21:15
 26:16 42:12
 54:3
ones 24:10 49:22
ongoing 57:14
 58:5
online 61:6
 64:12
onus 30:7
op 41:24
open 11:10,12
 23:6 28:2,11
 33:25 44:25
 49:13 69:12,23
 71:2 80:14
opening 74:6
operate 44:15
 50:17 57:8
 72:3
operating 43:24
 44:8,23 45:1
 45:18 46:8
 49:17 52:4
 74:22 76:7
Operation 74:16
 74:20 75:1
operations 49:18
operator 47:4
opinion 33:11
opportunities
 19:15
opportunity 7:6
 38:10 42:7,13
 42:16 61:6
opposed 10:2,11
 12:18 66:12

option 63:8
 oral 73:15
 orange 47:25
 order 3:8 45:15
 45:16 82:5
 ordinance 44:6
 ordinances 50:6
 organization
 36:16 56:23
 57:5 69:6
 80:10
 organizations
 56:24 58:10
 organize 53:24
 organized 80:6
 original 8:11
 Orleans 61:9
 ounces 51:19,20
 51:22
 outlined 66:3
 outside 11:1
 69:19
 outstanding
 14:18,23 27:20
 42:7,13 48:13
 60:23
 overall 22:13
 32:18
 oversight 61:2
 owner 33:13,22
 Oxendine 5:8
 16:20,21,22
 20:3 22:11
 23:22 24:4,24
 25:4,10,13,18
 25:23 26:17
 27:8,21 60:6

P

p.m 3:3 85:2
 package 13:23
 63:12
 packet 64:7
 page 17:24 19:10
 paid 84:1
 painted 46:14
 palatable 63:8
 Palmer 64:15
 Pamela 27:23
 28:1
 panel 14:18,23
 paperwork 72:6

parade 32:12
 paraphrasing
 67:17
 park 50:12 62:23
 parks 50:13
 part 14:20 22:12
 40:2 41:19,24
 46:12 55:5
 61:16 62:18
 63:18 66:6
 69:6,22
 participants
 18:10
 participate 19:7
 21:11,12 40:5
 60:1
 participates
 40:16
 participation
 7:12,17
 particular 12:6
 15:7 16:16
 33:2 52:22
 75:9 83:7
 partnership 7:7
 38:13
 partnerships
 38:16
 pass 62:4
 passed 44:6 63:1
 66:21 78:7
 pastor 3:9
 path 54:23
 patient 47:3,4
 51:17,17,19
 52:13,24
 patients 46:21
 46:21 49:1
 51:10,13 52:9
 patrol 37:5
 pause 5:24 34:22
 pay 26:10
 paying 39:9
 payment 10:25
 17:13
 PD 61:15
 peaking 75:16
 Peer 24:7
 peers 24:11
 pending 40:7
 pension 19:8,12
 people 6:25 7:4

8:25 14:14
 20:8,11,21
 21:10 22:12
 23:8 24:17
 25:16 26:8
 27:7 33:6,25
 36:5,17 39:18
 44:13 46:3,7
 47:21,22 49:23
 49:25 50:16
 55:16 59:2,14
 59:24 61:20
 62:17,24 63:3
 63:8 70:13
 71:24 74:23
 76:10 78:1
 percent 28:9,14
 28:17,18,18,21
 28:22,22,23
 29:1,1,2,3,6,7
 29:7,8,14,15
 30:16,19 32:17
 32:18,22,23
 percentage 23:19
 30:16
 perfect 33:5
 period 17:7 35:3
 61:22 81:5
 periodically
 48:8
 persistent 77:2
 77:4
 person 9:11
 22:22 35:2
 42:14 71:5
 73:12
 personal 70:24
 82:8
 personnel 5:9
 6:1,8 9:8
 16:23
 perspective
 70:23,24,24
 72:15
 pertaining 64:6
 PGA 40:12
 Phillips 6:3
 35:22 36:20
 photo 41:24
 PHOTOS 42:1
 physical 17:12
 26:14,16,20

27:5
 pick 51:19,21
 picks 51:18
 piece 17:4
 pig 33:7
 place 14:11
 26:15 51:9
 63:7 76:8
 86:10
 places 74:5,5
 75:3
 plan 8:6 44:2
 50:3,4 53:24
 plans 56:20
 plant 51:16,16
 52:3,4,11,12
 plants 46:22
 48:25 52:8
 played 31:13
 please 3:11 5:6
 6:1,12 7:22
 13:22 33:3
 36:7 39:3
 40:24 73:17
 78:8,17 79:9
 81:16
 pleased 6:15,24
 8:4,12 39:2,4
 41:18 43:7
 79:1
 plus 60:17,17,17
 73:13
 PM 1:13 73:4
 point 26:3 44:22
 51:22 72:9
 police 1:9 3:6
 4:12 5:6,9
 6:22 7:8 8:20
 14:20 16:11,22
 18:13 19:21
 22:2,22 24:1,2
 24:8 26:10
 30:2,10 31:24
 36:9,20 37:3
 38:14 39:15
 40:6 42:20
 43:22 44:20
 45:22 47:16
 54:12,15 55:20
 58:16 59:5
 61:10 62:5,7
 62:19,20 63:4

63:10 67:10,23
 69:2,12 70:14
 70:17,20 71:21
 72:17,17,23
 76:6 77:15
 79:21
POLICE'S 2:21
policeman 54:17
 54:21 55:18,19
policemen 55:14
 55:20 63:10
policewoman 60:4
policing 75:17
politics 61:17
pop 49:22
population 19:21
 22:13
portion 26:9,11
 51:18
positions 17:1
positive 16:7
 20:24,24 24:14
 43:1 61:14
 62:1,2,9
possession 46:22
 52:10
possible 16:14
 30:11 65:23
possibly 74:4
posted 65:19,24
potential 42:11
Potts 6:5 45:23
Precinct 14:8
 28:17 33:9
 37:6,23 68:7
 73:7
preconceived
 63:9
preparation
 69:16,16
prepared 13:23
 54:22 71:12
present 6:11
 58:8 64:5
presentation
 40:3 60:3
president 65:17
 66:7 67:16,22
 69:5
presidents 67:23
press 13:23
 67:14 68:17

77:20
pressure 41:8
 79:24
pretty 54:5
 65:13 76:16
 80:20 82:6
previous 36:6
 37:23 40:9
 41:13
prior 14:11
priority 36:9
pro 9:4
probably 6:18
 21:6 34:4
 39:22 61:6
 83:25
problem 46:12
 74:4
Procedure 28:21
 29:6
proceedings 85:1
 86:9,14
process 11:12
 13:7,12,15
 16:14 17:7,19
 18:6,23 19:12
 22:20 26:4
 39:23 48:3
 49:23,24 72:4
 73:20 76:8
program 7:3,10
 8:1,16 18:8,8
 18:11 24:7,7
 36:10 39:11,15
 39:20 41:18
 42:9 58:17,21
 59:3 66:9
programs 24:5
 40:17 61:20
progress 7:15
 32:25 52:22
project 45:14
 65:14
projects 18:19
 40:17 44:18
prominent 6:10
promote 13:24
 14:3 15:23
 60:19 61:25
proper 76:17,19
 80:17 81:8,18
 81:25

properly 10:8
 11:18 66:1
 84:21
property 9:23
 29:7
proposing 12:12
pros 71:25
prosecuted 68:5
 70:14,17,19
prosecution
 71:23
prosecutor 67:15
 67:18 68:15
 69:8,11,21
 70:6,11 71:16
 72:2 73:10
protocol 80:17
proud 39:16
provide 26:22
 77:17
provided 64:21
provost 7:15
public 1:17
 10:22 11:11
 30:8 45:21
 64:23
publishing 21:19
pulled 33:19
pulse 35:8
push-ups 27:5
put 15:20 36:11
 40:3 49:19
 53:23 56:19,20
 57:13 58:2,16
 58:20 59:1,13
 61:13 65:5,21
 80:3
putting 29:21
 45:24 54:25
 64:12

Q

qualified 56:9
 56:10
quality 43:12,17
 55:16
quantity 55:15
quarterly 53:8
 53:10
question 26:13
 39:23 40:24
 49:8

questions 15:2,4
 16:18 19:17
 20:23 27:19
 29:10 34:20,22
 48:5 52:19
quick 21:8
Quinn 5:12
quite 36:4 39:11
 41:2 61:14
 66:15 68:14
quorum 4:6,8
 10:21

R

R&R 5:1
radio 34:24
ran 47:21 69:10
rank 24:8
ranking 7:4
ranks 42:8
Raskin 7:19,25
 8:21 38:7,21
 39:1 41:8
rationale 20:11
reach 35:3 59:2
 71:8 77:24
reached 69:8
reaching 71:4
 73:13
react 54:20
read 29:24 55:7
 61:11 67:12
 72:12,19
ready 12:15 18:7
 19:25 39:18
real 9:6 20:6
 32:2
realize 48:25
really 4:11,19
 7:13 8:25 14:6
 15:19 16:7
 22:15,18 23:7
 24:5 35:19
 38:13 42:25
 43:4 49:4
 53:23,25 60:17
 61:19 63:13
 69:13 77:20,21
 77:23 79:23
reason 42:14
reasonable 22:6
reasons 68:22

recall 72:9
receive 43:3
received 14:1
 21:8 37:17
recipient 37:10
 37:23
recipients 36:6
 39:3,16
recognition 79:7
recognize 9:3
recognized 82:1
recognizing
 42:11
recommend 59:4
record 7:22
 16:23 28:1
 29:20 31:2
 40:10 70:22
 72:12,20
recruit 54:4
 55:9 56:13
recruited 62:16
recruiting 17:6
 26:19 53:18,24
 55:1,23 59:21
 60:5 62:25
recruitment 19:3
 57:3,14,18,24
 58:4 59:16
 80:24
recruits 55:25
 63:14
reduced 86:11
reference 16:16
 16:18 68:19
 82:4
reflect 31:3
reform 61:9
regard 19:20
 51:7
regarding 63:5
Reggie 4:1
regimens 26:22
REGINALD 2:9
regular 8:25
 53:7
regularly 56:19
related 23:21
relationship
 23:4 40:8 81:6
relationships
 6:22

release 13:23
 25:24 68:17
relive 79:11
remarks 34:24
remember 22:1
 46:2
removed 83:18
 84:1
repaint 48:22
repair 74:5
report 10:13
 16:17,19,25
 18:18 19:5,16
 21:23 24:21
 27:20,24 29:9
 29:13 34:14,20
 53:17 56:12
 59:7 63:24
 66:20,21,25
 68:21
report/statement
 68:16
reported 86:8
reporter 5:13
 86:1
reporting 30:24
reports 47:17
 53:7,14,15
 66:18
represent 9:6
 16:3 36:18
 38:9
representation
 16:13
representative
 38:6
represented
 36:17
REPRESENTING
 2:21
represents 28:9
repulsive 33:8
request 41:23
required 10:25
research 11:24
 12:12 15:2
 70:13
residence 3:10
residences 75:12
residency 17:25
residents 18:1,1
 18:2,4,5

resources 11:3
 23:13 32:13
 47:14 49:19
 76:13
respect 17:5,10
 17:24 19:10
 20:6 23:13
 72:1 79:21,23
responsible 52:3
rest 56:11
restricted 19:13
 21:25 22:16
result 71:7
resumes 40:17
retains 52:10
retention 19:1,3
retire 20:1
retirement 19:11
 19:15 20:15,18
returns 51:17
review 41:16
 50:3
right 3:16 9:9
 22:22 30:3,18
 30:19 32:16
 39:18 41:13,14
 41:14 42:5
 47:19 49:23
 58:19 76:4
 78:4 82:4
right-hand 9:11
risk 23:4
River 34:8
robberies 32:22
robbery 33:15
 34:3 37:22
Robert 5:11 14:4
 79:5
Rogford 83:13,14
 84:15
roll 63:22
roller 60:3
rolling 63:22
Rose 5:14 86:18
Rouge 34:8
row 5:10 73:19
rubber 31:22
rules 12:25 13:1
 36:14
ruling 82:13
running 23:1
runs 31:19

S

Sacred 55:1
saddened 79:14
safety 1:17
 43:22 45:9,14
 45:16 47:10,17
 74:2,15 75:18
salary 59:15
 63:7
Samaritan 57:9
 57:19 58:1
 60:15
sample 64:19
Sanders 2:5 3:19
 3:20 9:22
 31:15 84:19
Saturday 57:20
saying 48:21
 51:9 78:15
says 45:17 71:1
Scene 36:23
Schaefer 33:11
scheduling 71:5
 71:16,19
scholars 8:18
scholarship 7:10
 34:15,17 35:18
 36:12 37:10
 39:14 41:7
school 6:17 7:14
 39:7 50:11
schools 54:7
Sciences 7:20
scores 25:24,25
 26:5
scout 30:13
Scouts 15:9
screen 14:5
se 45:8
search 16:13
second 9:22
 11:17 26:24
 27:4 41:2
 84:20,22
seconded 9:24
 11:19
Secondly 54:6
Secretary 2:3
 4:5 5:4 66:18
 66:19 84:12
see 5:3,22 6:24

8:25 9:7 14:4
 14:5 17:25
 21:10,20 31:24
 41:16 47:16,18
 47:24 55:3
 63:5 75:10,12
 76:6 80:20
 83:11,25
seen 74:18
segment 63:19
seize 46:3
selected 40:18
selection 39:23
send 15:17 35:10
 39:4 50:20
senior 5:21
senseless 35:12
sent 44:7
separated 16:10
September 1:13
 3:2 10:16,17
 10:18,19 11:3
 11:6,14 12:10
 13:24 18:8
 55:6 57:13,16
 57:17,21,25
 73:3
Ser 58:11
sergeant 37:5
serious 44:17
serve 13:21
service 11:1
 20:4 28:22
 29:7
Services 5:13
 10:25 36:23
set 50:7 59:20
 69:6,10 70:22
 86:10
settings 69:25
setup 10:24
seven 56:3,10
Sgt 6:2,3,5
 35:21,22 36:7
 36:19 37:2,20
 45:23
shaking 75:21
share 14:14
 21:16 52:20
 62:10
shared 61:5
sharing 14:7

sheet 64:21
Shelby 64:4
Sherwood 84:9
shoes 37:25
shooting 35:12
 37:22 70:20
shootings 32:17
 32:18
shops 75:11
shore 19:12
 22:10
short 20:20
 61:22
shortly 8:17
shot 27:2,4
 33:13 70:14
show 81:5
showcase 64:22
shown 74:18
shut 44:12,14,21
 45:13 47:9,11
 48:1 49:20
 51:23
shutting 47:8
sick 40:11
side 31:6,11,11
 31:12 54:7
 55:24 56:3
 57:19 60:13,13
significant
 25:22 39:12
 48:10
signs 46:12,13
 47:25
similar 80:5
Simms 31:6
sir 5:2 11:22
 12:3 22:12
 24:19 27:21
 29:12 31:1
 34:18 38:25,25
 64:18 67:1,2,4
 72:25 83:11
site 50:3
sitting 4:13 5:2
 31:5 60:19
six 55:4 56:5
 78:13 84:8
sixth 31:19
Slappy 80:15
slow 60:3 63:22
slowly 32:24

smaller 22:13,14
SMITH 81:12,22
 82:9 83:4,9
sobbing 33:20
social 15:16,18
 72:21
softball 31:13
somewhat 68:1
soon 16:13 58:18
 65:23
sorry 6:4 9:11
 16:18 34:19,21
sort 61:4 65:19
 67:25 75:10
SOSAD 80:6
Sounds 52:14
southwest 54:7
 55:25 59:10,11
Spanish 59:9
speak 13:18,18
 38:11 64:14
 71:3,6 73:10
 73:18 76:21,24
 84:11
speaking 83:14
special 18:18
 40:16
specific 49:21
speech 72:14
spirit 11:9
 12:13
spoke 78:5
spoken 76:22
sponsored 54:13
spot 20:8,15
spreadsheet 64:6
 64:19
squad 80:14
square 74:8
SS 86:5
St 14:25
staff 5:5,18,19
 13:23 15:5
 70:13 76:16
stand 6:12 67:24
 84:24
standard 40:5
standing 40:6
 53:14,14 63:24
Star 53:20
start 15:1,1
 44:3,22

started 8:1,2
 17:19,22 45:13
 65:1,14
starting 3:15
 15:5 16:12
 55:5
state 6:11,12,13
 7:7 8:19 18:21
 18:21 19:20
 34:16 35:17,24
 36:11 37:14
 38:3,6 39:7,9
 39:13 40:19
 42:3,6 50:8
 52:13,16 71:10
 78:20 86:4
stated 72:19
statement 12:2
 82:10
statements 67:25
States 62:20
station 56:1
statistics 28:6
stay 18:24 24:23
 25:21,25 42:14
 77:12 84:7
steer 76:3
stenographically
 86:9
step 81:10
stepped 6:17
steps 61:13
Steven 2:23 4:13
sticks 21:24
stint 22:3
stomach 82:24
stop 32:8 49:10
 57:10,22
Stoppers 77:14
 77:20 78:16
stops 57:7,8,15
straight 70:22
strategies 22:9
 80:24
strategize 53:24
 56:19
strategy 19:2
STREET 1:15
stress 23:21
 24:1
stretched 32:14
strictly 23:20

Strong 81:20,24
student 18:7
students 7:9 8:2
 8:5,7 41:9
 42:11 54:22
 55:7,9
subcommittee
 53:15
submit 40:14
submitted 28:3
 50:3,3
success 45:11
successfully
 70:19
suggest 58:23
 75:19,24
suggested 53:7
 58:7
suggesting 75:22
summary 81:17
summer 76:15
Sunday 31:13
supervisors 28:4
supply 15:14
support 11:25
 14:1 24:7 33:4
 33:17 39:8
 60:16 65:25
 66:2 67:19
supported 10:7,9
 66:2
supportive 9:1
 24:6
sure 7:23 12:4
 12:11 24:21
 26:6 29:25
 36:2 40:1 42:5
 57:2 66:24
 76:16 79:2
 80:3 81:9
surprised 67:17
 67:21
survey 18:21,22
 19:4,7,20
 20:20,21 24:21
sustained 29:1,2
 40:10
sweet 20:8
swing 17:15
sworn 17:1,4,5,9
 17:21 18:1,5
 18:12,17 21:12

21:13
sympathy 35:14
system 82:7

T

t's 71:13
table 59:20
 62:25 64:10
 65:22
take 14:10 19:17
 20:17 26:5
 41:9 46:4 52:3
 84:13
taken 42:1 46:13
 47:3 60:11
 63:7
takes 78:19
takings 47:7
talk 24:10,17
 26:22 29:22,23
 44:1 48:9 76:2
 79:2
talked 33:25
 47:21 59:18
 60:4 62:5
 68:15 70:6
talking 7:16
 33:16 54:20
 60:20
talks 61:9
task 37:22 45:5
team 31:20 43:21
 81:7
teams 45:24
teletype 40:3
tell 29:24 50:19
 76:10
telling 50:4
tem 9:4
tendency 20:21
tentatively
 39:19
terms 8:17 13:10
 14:21 17:20
 20:14 23:14
 24:14 25:1
 26:2 41:6
 42:13,15,21
 52:21 61:14
 62:6 63:21
 64:2,12 67:8
 71:10,17,23

72:2 73:9
 80:17,17 81:7
 82:5,7
test 27:6
testament 32:20
testimony 69:15
testing 17:10
 25:1 26:8
thank 3:13 4:4,9
 5:1,2,7,20,20
 6:7 7:3,5,24
 7:25 8:14,15
 8:19,21,22,24
 9:1 12:19
 13:20,20 16:6
 16:19 21:21
 22:11 24:20
 25:6 27:20,21
 30:21,23,25
 31:6 35:15
 38:12,21 39:1
 39:5,7,13
 40:22 41:20
 42:12 43:12
 48:22 49:4
 52:19 53:2,3
 53:12,13 62:10
 62:14,21 63:16
 64:15,15,17
 65:16 66:13,14
 66:16 67:2,4
 71:13,14 72:23
 72:25 77:6
 80:1,21 81:11
 83:4,10 84:16
 84:25
thanked 47:22
thanks 29:13
thing 5:1 18:15
 18:18 24:12
 32:5 48:14,24
 56:18 58:7
 59:11 62:3,13
 78:4 80:13
things 4:20
 20:24 21:1,2
 21:24 22:16
 47:16,18 54:1
 54:24 59:4,11
 59:17 62:2,9
 68:6 70:3
think 6:5 12:13

13:16 19:9
 22:6,12,17,21
 23:6,16 24:4
 24:13 29:19
 32:6 33:11,14
 35:11 41:2,3
 41:18 42:17
 46:24 48:8
 55:20 59:14
 60:1,17,21,24
 61:3,21 62:1
 63:11,13 65:2
 65:2,12 68:2
 73:10 75:16
 76:9 80:4,15
 80:16 81:8
Third 1:15 45:6
thorough 30:24
thought 14:21
 40:20 48:12,15
thousand 62:24
threaten 72:17
 72:18,22
threatening
 67:10
threats 33:1,7
 67:9 71:22,23
 71:24 72:13
three 8:10 31:14
 57:8 80:7,12
Thursday 1:13
 3:2 10:4 57:25
 73:3
tickets 46:11,17
 46:18
time 4:10,24 6:1
 6:21 9:18 12:8
 13:10,16,19
 18:9 27:1,5
 28:10 34:12
 35:3 40:11
 42:8 53:6
 61:22 65:21
 68:8 69:5,13
 71:22,24 73:21
 76:7 81:5,14
 82:11 86:10
times 61:7,8
 77:19
tire 76:8
today 5:13 8:13
 28:2 31:22

36:18 44:5,25
 44:25 48:5
 62:14 64:5,7
 64:10 68:16
 83:1
told 55:12
tongue 72:13
tonight 14:8
 32:11
toot 60:18 61:25
 63:13
top 50:19
total 8:9 17:2,3
 18:13 41:10
 44:23
touched 33:17
touching 35:1
tour 54:12,14
tow 83:17
towing 12:22,23
 12:25 83:15,16
 83:18,23 84:9
 84:10
town 15:22 32:13
tragic 33:10
 34:11
training 7:15
 26:18,21 61:10
 71:11
transcription
 11:1 86:12,13
translated 59:9
transpired 61:23
transportation
 54:13
travel 10:22
 60:13 61:24
tremendous 35:11
trends 20:7
Tri-County 83:15
 84:10
true 29:17 70:10
 86:12
Trump 32:12
truthfully 77:21
 77:23 79:24
try 22:9 32:14
 56:22
trying 19:2 33:5
 49:25 56:14
 77:24 83:15
 84:6

tuition 59:13,15
tune 62:8
turn 7:18 37:14
 56:11
twice 78:6
Twitter 14:13
two 8:1,2,7,8,18
 20:16 23:14
 31:4,14,14,16
 35:20 36:17
 37:18,24 38:17
 39:3,3 41:9,10
 41:11,12,15
 53:19 60:10
 64:3 73:16
 77:12 80:7,12
two-month 17:7
type 35:10 61:1
typically 5:17

U

ultimately 69:9
undergrad 36:23
 37:7 40:12
understand 33:5
 70:5 75:23
 76:6,18,21
 77:6 83:17
understanding
 6:9 49:3 66:21
Unfortunately
 15:21 33:23
unfounded 29:2
unions 58:11
 67:23
unit 20:5 21:14
 26:19
United 62:19
units 28:15
universities
 6:10
University 7:7
 36:11 37:7,20
 38:3,7 39:14
 40:19
unknown 28:14
 29:15 30:16
unlawful 45:18
 46:7
unsolved 78:2
untimely 33:23
up-front 26:11

update 18:18
 27:24 43:4,8
 48:8 52:19
 66:25
updated 66:23
updates 43:6
 54:9
use 45:18 46:7
 46:20 52:4
usual 21:23
usually 18:9
 30:18

V

vacancies 17:3
vacation 4:16,18
 4:20
vacations 4:23
valuable 64:23
value 39:11
Van 56:8
Vann 2:8 3:10,14
 4:2,3 9:20
 10:7 11:15
 13:2 15:13
 16:4 21:22
 23:16,24 43:9
 51:6,12,23
 52:14 62:22
 63:17 75:8,18
venture 23:23
versus 60:22
vested 20:13
veteran 36:20
 37:3
vice-president
 69:1
victim 80:19
Village 42:17,23
violation 11:25
 45:19,21
violations 75:13
vote 12:15

W

wait 15:3 83:9
want 5:15 8:23
 9:3 13:17,18
 14:6,17 15:6
 15:22 16:1,8
 22:4 30:10
 31:4 32:7,8

34:23 35:14,23
 35:24 37:14
 39:6,16 43:6
 46:13,14 47:6
 49:16,16 50:10
 50:11 54:16,17
 62:14,23 64:15
 65:10,11 66:20
 66:24 70:22
 71:18,20 79:13
 79:15 81:17,18
 82:17 83:12
wanted 20:19
 21:8 56:18
 81:22
wants 41:24
 62:18
warned 44:10
Warren 73:4
Warriors 38:19
Washington 9:11
 9:14,15 53:9
 76:2,14
wasn't 27:12
 67:17 68:8
 69:17
watch 27:15 32:9
way 5:10 26:5,7
 49:25 60:16
 63:12 82:15,20
Wayne 6:11,12,13
 7:7 8:19 34:16
 35:17,24 36:11
 37:14 38:2,6
 39:7,8,13
 40:19 42:3,6
 55:3 67:15
 68:15 69:21
 70:10 78:20
 86:6
we'll 8:9 18:10
 19:5 21:16,17
 21:19 27:22
 30:15 41:16
 42:5 59:23
 60:25 79:2
 80:2 81:8
we're 3:7 5:24
 7:8,10,12 8:17
 12:13 13:12
 14:12,12,13
 15:11 17:15,17

19:2,4,8 20:3
 20:19 21:5,13
 23:14 26:8
 27:8 32:2,8,24
 33:4,4,5 38:13
 38:15,18 39:2
 39:4,16 40:21
 41:18 42:5,9
 43:3,7 44:5
 46:18 47:7
 54:5,6,19,22
 54:24 55:14,15
 55:16 56:14
 57:7,14,17,21
 57:24 58:2,5
 58:13,20 59:1
 59:2,25 60:6
 60:19,20 61:18
 63:22,22 72:3
 72:7 74:4
we've 6:22 7:9
 19:11 22:17
 29:19 36:11
 38:1 44:1 47:3
 47:20 50:8
 53:1 55:24,25
 56:1 58:17
 77:19 84:4
weapons 13:25
Wednesday 17:18
week 4:16 15:22
 17:18 18:20
 33:2 47:12
 73:3
weekend 32:10,11
 32:14
weekly 1:11 3:5
 60:20
weeks 22:24
 57:15 61:1
 64:3 72:10,19
 78:13,14
weigh 13:4,17
 14:25
welcome 3:5
 66:16
wellness 24:15
 24:16
went 13:15 31:14
 31:16 33:15
 35:19 40:18
 45:3,22,25

47:9 61:16
 70:11
weren't 74:24
west 54:6 60:13
 73:4
whatsoever 77:15
White 31:5 35:25
 36:2 37:13
 39:6 40:2 41:1
 42:2 65:17
wide 54:7
Willie 2:4,10
 3:6,24 31:3
willing 55:17,18
 78:24
wise 11:3
witnessed 69:14
women 60:7
won 31:18,20
wonderful 26:12
 27:3,6
words 38:10,22
work 7:11 26:15
 32:20 35:21,25
 36:3 37:7
 40:13,14 43:18
 56:25 57:6,6
 60:21 63:4
 64:16 71:15,19
 79:25
work/life 21:3
worked 33:21
 34:6 44:18
 66:8 70:5
 75:20
workforce 56:25
 57:6
working 19:8
 22:9,15 23:2
 27:7 38:14,19
 40:8 43:21,23
 47:13 48:2
 55:6,8 57:7
 68:7 80:15,15
works 16:14
 34:13 36:22
 82:6
workshop 71:11
workshops 69:4,7
 69:10,10
Worthy 69:9,9
 71:16 72:2

wouldn't 23:22
 23:23 51:13
 67:18 77:14
wrecking 83:16
 83:23
write 38:4 46:11
writing 55:8
written 17:11,13
 17:16 25:9,11
 74:3,9
wrong 33:12 82:4
Wyoming 57:23

X

X 49:8

Y

yards 75:11
yeah 31:25 34:21
 65:6
year 8:5,9 11:6
 11:8 17:7
 20:16,16 27:10
 28:10 32:1,3
 32:19 37:17
 40:25 41:1,3,3
 41:9,10,11,11
 41:11,13,14,15
 44:6 55:14
 58:12,13 61:24
 65:1,2 69:10
 71:17 80:11
year's 37:10
years 6:22 8:2
 8:10 19:23
 20:4,10,13,17
 20:18 34:6
 37:18,19,24
 39:3,20 42:21
 68:25 69:4,23
 70:6,11,25
 80:7,12
yesterday 47:9
York 61:6,8
young 4:10 42:20
 54:21 60:7
 62:14,16 66:8
 78:24 83:12
Young's 62:15
youth 54:11
 56:25 72:16

Z

Zalman 6:15,19
zones 50:7
zoning 50:6

0

1

1 1:13 3:2 46:5
 49:10,14 83:18
1,000 59:2,3
10 20:9,13 28:9
 29:2,7 31:19
 32:6 47:11
 54:10 56:9
100 16:2 32:19
10th 28:18 37:6
 56:9
11 56:1
11th 37:22
12 18:4 51:19
 56:4
12th 28:16
13 28:3 29:2
1301 1:15
13th 37:4 73:7
14 32:18,22
 72:11
15 18:3 20:9,10
 53:18
153 17:6
17 28:22 57:21
17-year 37:3
171 45:1 48:12
1776 73:4
18 18:12 29:1
 56:3,4
183 28:2
19 54:10
191 28:19
1960 83:20
1980 6:20
1994 37:21

2

2 2:8 4:3 17:24
 49:11 50:18
 51:21 57:18,21
 57:25 58:1
2,308 17:1
2,808 17:2

2:58 3:3
20 20:16,18
 45:12 55:24,24
20-year 36:20
200 55:13
2010 77:3
2014 8:12
2016 1:13 3:2
 10:5,16,18
 13:24 16:25
 17:8,21 28:6
 83:19
2019/2020 41:15
21 28:22 37:19
216 28:11
21st 66:6
22 17:21 57:25
23 79:7
24 18:13 51:20
25 10:4,18 27:17
 55:25 58:14
 74:8
250 44:25
254 17:3
26 18:9 29:6
 56:8
27 56:10
273 44:24 45:2
 48:12
29 10:16,18,19
 11:3,6,14
 12:10 61:7,8

3
3 2:9 36:21
 54:10
3.0 40:12
3.38 37:8
3.89 37:1
3:00 1:13
30 28:21
300 19:6 21:10
31 17:8
317 17:3
322 18:1
33 32:23
34 29:1
36 34:6
3rd 4:1 28:18

4
4:37 85:2

40 29:6 30:19
 55:14
400 61:21
45 28:14 29:14
 29:15 30:16
45th 58:14
48 11:7,8
48226 1:19
49 11:5
4th 33:9 68:7

5
5 2:10 28:18
 32:16 58:1
5:30 31:23 32:4
500 17:2
51 17:21

6
6 2:11 28:17,17
 32:5
6:30 73:4
615 28:12
629 18:1
63 17:4
658 28:12
6th 73:7

7
7 14:8 28:17
 29:8 41:3
 57:17
7-1-2016 17:8
700 59:24

8
8 13:24 28:17,23
 73:3
800 59:24
802 17:8
87 45:4

9
9 57:18,21,25
 58:1
90 28:5
93 28:24 29:5
99 28:9,13,19
9th 14:8